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Education

at a residential school. First, the parents' agreement to place
their child in the residential school prior to the completion of
his individual education program (IEP) precluded their claim
that his placement without an IEP violated the IDEA. Second,
the school board's furnishing the school with the child's
clinical records that allegedly falsely reported a history of
starting fires did not amount to a prohibited public labeling of
pupils with educational violations pursuant to N.J. Admin.
Code §6:28-1.4(a). Tallman v. Barnegat BL of Educ., 2002
WL 1925445 (3d Cir. Aug. 21, 2002).

University; Dismissal; §504; Statute of
Limitations

A Minnesota federal court ruled that a former student's
claim under the Rehabilitation Act §504, 29 U.S.C. §794, that a
university dismissed him because of his disabilities (Crouzons
Syndrome, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder,
developmental dyslexia, sleep apnea and hearing loss) was
not time-barred pursuant to Minnesota's six-year limitations
period for personal injury actions. See Ballard v. Rubin, 284
F.3d 957 (8th Cir. 2002), 26 MPDLR 527; Faibisch v. University
ofMinn., 304 F.3d 797 (8th Cir. 2002). Falcone v. University of
Minn., 2002 WL 31151357 (D. Minn. SepL 24, 2002).

Employment: Disability Defined/
Associational Discrimination

Title I; Vision Policy; Perceived

The Ninth Circuit found that no reasonable inference could
be drawn from the United Parcel Service's (UPS) vision
protocol-prohibiting employees with monocular vision from
jobs driving vehicles--that UPS regarded those employees
who could not meet the vision protocol as substantially limited
in seeing overall, in violation of the Americans with Disabilities
Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 etseq. Thus, the court remanded
for a determination as to whether a group of employees were
regarded as substantially limited in their vision with respect to
their major life activities. EEOC v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.,
306 F3d 794 (9th Cir. 2002).

The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC),
on behalf of a group of United Parcel Service (UPS) employees
(James Francis, Shawn Hogya, and Stephen Ligas) alleged
that UPS's vision protocol violated the ADA Title 1, 42 U.S.C.
§ § 12111-12117. The district court found that the protocol was
not job-related or consistent with business necessity, because
less discriminatory alternatives existed to qualify applicants.
The court enjoined UPS from using its vision protocol, unless
modified to eliminate the requirement of central vision acuity
in both eyes, and required that all those who failed to pass be
provided an individualized opportunity to demonstrate that
they were as qualified to drive safely as those whom UPS
ordinarily hires.

The Ninth Circuit reversed and remanded, rejecting the
EEOC's argument that UPS's protocol established that the
company perceived all individuals with monocular vision as
substantially limited in the major life activity of seeing. See
Murphy v. United Parcel Serv., Inc., 527 U.S. 516,521-22 (1999),
23 MPDLR 511; Thompson v. Holy Family Hosp., 121 F.3d 537,
541 (9th Cir. 1997), 21 MPDLR 609. While the protocol is
evidence of UPS's attitude toward employees with monocular
vision, "[s]tanding alone, the allegation that [the employer]
has a vision requirement in place does not establish a claim
that [the employer] regards [the applicant] as substantially
limited in the major life activity of working." See Sutton v.
UnitedAirLines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471,490 (1991), 23 MPDLR 510.
Pursuant to Sutton, an employer is free to decide that certain
physical characteristics or medical conditions that do not rise
to the level of an impairment are preferable to others, and that
some limiting, but not substantially limiting impairments, make
certain individuals less than ideally suited for a job. Id. at 490-
91. "[T]here is nothing improperly discriminatory about a
protocol that qualifies individuals for safe driving of particular
UPS vehicles on the basis of a condition that is perceived to
be limiting to their ability to see, but not substantially
limiting." See Taylor v. Pathmark Stores, Inc., 177 F.3d 180,
192 (3d Cir. 1999), 23 MPDLR 524. Accordingly, the appeals
court remanded to the district court to determine whether UPS
regarded Francis, Ligas, or Hogya as substantially limited in
seeing for purposes of daily life. See Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky.,
Inc. v. Williams, 122 S. Ct. 681 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73.

Title I; Perceived; Myopic Vision

A Pennsylvania federal court held that a former transit officer
with myopic vision failed to show that his employer regarded
him as disabled, in violation of the Americans with Disabilities
Act (ADA) Title I, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117, by requiring him
to pass a vision exam and firing him after 17 years of
satisfactory service. Knoll v. Southeastern Pa. Transp. Auth.,
2002 WL 31045145 (E.D. Pa. SepL 11, 2002).

Michael Knoll had amblyopia ("lazy eye") resulting in
monocular vision. In 1983, Knoll applied for a job as a transit
officer with Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation
Authority (SEPTA). He failed SEPTA's visual acuity test,
which requires 20/20 corrected vision in the individual's best
eye and no worse than 20/30 corrected vision in the other.
After receiving eyeglasses, Knoll passed the eye exam every
year until 1999, when the test revealed a corrected visual acuity
in his left eye of 20/60. The 1999 exam required Knoll to look
into a "scope machine," in addition to reading an eye chart.
Knoll also had his vision tested by his doctor, who confirmed
the results. SEPTA fired Knoll for "substandard vision," and
he sued SEPTA under Title I.

The district court granted summary judgment for SEPTA,
finding that Knoll was not disabled under the ADA. See 42
U.S.C. §12102(2). The court rejected Knoll's argument that
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Employment: Disability Defined/Associational Discrimination

requiring him to take and pass the visual examination
demonstrated that SEPTA regarded him as disabled. See 29
C.F.R. §1630.2(1)(1-2). The Third Circuit recognizes two
circumstances in which an employer regards an employee as
being disabled. The first occurs when an employer makes "an
innocent misperception based on nothing more than a simple
mistake of fact as to the severity, or even the very existence, of
an individual's impairment." See Deane v. Pocono Med. Ctr.,
142 F.3d 138, 144 (3d Cir. 1998) (en banc), 22 MPDLR 340. The
second circumstance occurs when an employer's action is
predicated largely on "society's myths, fears, stereotypes, and
prejudices with respect to the disabled." Id. at 144. Significantly,
an employer does not fall into either category simply by
requiring an employee to take and pass a physical examination.
Tice v. CentreArea Transp. Auth., 247 F.3d 506 (3d Cir. 2001),
25 MPDLR 589.

Here, SEPTA's decision to terminate Knoll was not based
on a mistaken or a stereotypical understanding of his
impairment." The undisputed record clearly indicates that the
defendant is correct in its belief that people with amblyopia do
not have identical vision to those without the impairment."
SEPTA did not presume that Knoll's vision was flawed by
simply observing his lazy eye. Rather, SEPTA tested Knoll's
vision, and his own doctor confirmed that Knoll's vision was
impaired. Moreover, SEPTA did not hold Knoll to a different,
let alone higher standard than any other SEPTA transit officer.
It required all transit officers to take and pass the eye exam.
Both parties agreed that the visual acuity standards were job-
related and served a business necessity. Observation, which
includes stake-outs, and processing visual information on
routine patrols are highly dependent on the use of vision. In
addition, vision is imperative to defending one's self or others
from attack, pursuing fleeing felons, subduing individuals
resisting arrest, using deadly force, and responding to
emergencies in poorly lit conditions. Until terminating Knoll,
SEPTA "barely seemed to take notice of plaintiff's impairment,
let alone discriminate against him because of it." Knoll was
given assignments that were identical to those given to his
peers.

The court also rejected Knoll's argument that by firing him
despite 17 years of satisfactory service, SEPTA regarded his
amblyopia as substantially interfering with the major life
activity of working. See Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc., 527
U.S. 471 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510. Although SEPTA believed
that those who fail to meet its visual acuity standards are not
fit to be SEPTA transit police officers, it did not regard Knoll
as unable to perform a broad range ofjobs. SEPTA's vocational
expert reported that there were many jobs outside the security
field and within the local job market for which Knoll qualified.

Hiring; Title I; State Law; Perceived;

Depression

A Minnesota federal court held that an applicant for a city

firefighter position was regarded as disabled for purposes of
the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101
et seq., and the Minnesota Human Rights Act (MHRA), Minn.
Stat. §363.01 subd. 13, because the city's psychiatrist
concluded that he was unable to perform a wide range of public
safety jobs-not just firefighting-due to his history of
depression. Edge v. City of St. Paul, 2002 WL 31260012 (D.
Minn. Oct 7, 2002).

Douglas Edge applied for a position as a firefighter with the
City of St. Paul. Although he passed the written exam and
physical performance test, he did not pass the psychological
test. As part of the test, Edge disclosed that he had been
treated for depression and received anti-depression
medication. The doctor's report concluded that Edge had
underlying problems with anxiety and low self-esteem and a
history of depression. The city revoked its conditional offer
of employment. Edge sued the city under ADA Title 1, 42 U.S.C.
§§12111-12117, and the MHRA.

The district court denied the city's motion for summary
judgment. Under the ADA, a person is disabled if he or she
has a mental or physical impairment that substantially limits
one or more major life activities, or is regarded by the employer
as having such an impairment. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2); see
also Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999), 23
MPDLR 510. The MHRA's definition of "disability" is
essentially the same. See Weber v. Strippit, Inc., 186 F.3d 907,
912 n.4 (8th Cir. 1999), 23 MPDLR 688. Edge claimed that the
city regarded him as having an impairment that substantially
limited him in the major life activity of working. See 29 C.F.R.
§1630.2(1). Such a limitation requires that a person be
significantly restricted-in comparison with the average person
with comparable training, skills, and abilities-in the ability to
perform either (1) a class ofjobs or (2) a broad range ofjobs in
various classes. See Sutton, 527 U.S. at 492-493; 29 C.F.R.
§ 1630.2(j)(3)(i). An individual must be precluded from more
than one type of job, a specialized job, or a particular job of
choice. See Sutton, 527 U.S. at 492.

Here, the city claimed that it only believed Edge was
precluded from the job of firefighting. See Smith v. City ofDes
Moines, 99 F.3d 1466, 1474 (8th Cir. 1996), 21 MPDLR 64 (that
city regarded fire captain as unable to perform duties of
firefighter did not establish that it believed he was unable to
perform otherjobs); Welsh v. City of Tulsa, 977 F.2d 1415, 1419
(10th Cir. 1992), 17 MPDLR 172; see also Miller v. City of
Springfield, 146 F.3d 612,617 (8th Cir. 1998), 22 MPDLR 605.
However, the city viewed Edge's disability in terms of his
suitability for public safety work in general. The psychiatrist's
report made several references to his concern that, given Edge's
score on the tests, he would not be successful in public safety
jobs. Viewing the psychiatrist's reports and conclusions in a
light most favorable to Edge, the court concluded that the
City viewed Edge's depression as substantially limiting him
with regard to the class of public safety jobs. Public safety
jobs are a broad class ofjobs that can include firefighters, law
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enforcement, emergency medical personnel, lifeguards,
security guards, and correctional officers. See Marschand v.
Norfolk & W Ry. Co., 876 F. Supp. 1528, 1540 (N.D. Ind. 1995),
19 MPDLR 473. A hiring decision, such as this one, that is
based on an employee's perception that an applicant is
disabled will be imputed to the employer in a "regarded as"
action under the ADA.

Title I; Perceived; MI; Pretext; Retaliation

A Connecticut federal court held that factual issues existed
as to whether an employer violated the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA) Title 1, 42 U.S.C. § § 12111-12117, by
failing to allow an employee to return to work from medical
leave where it regarded her as having a mental condition, and
to consider her for a new position. However, the court dismissed
her claim that she was terminated due to her disability, for it
pre-dated the ADA, as well as her retaliation claim, because
the employer's alleged misconduct occurred before she
complained of disability discrimination. Kennedy v. St Francis
Hosp., 2002 WL 31109535 (D. Conn. Aug. 22, 2002).

Beverly Kennedy, a program director at St. Francis Hospital
Sickle Cell Service, had a work-related injury in June 1991, and
was on medical leave from November 1991 until February 1992.
In March 1992, St. Francis advised Kennedy that her position
was being eliminated in September. In May 1992, St. Francis
proposed the creation of a new job with more clinical focus.
The position, which was never filled, was described as a
reconfiguration of Kennedy's program director job. Kennedy's
supervisor proposed that another employee be offered the
job without any posting. That same month, Kennedy sustained
a second work-related injury and was on medical leave until
August. When she attempted to return to work, St. Francis
denied her medical clearance. In September, Kennedy's
position was eliminated. She sued St. Francis under Title I.

The district court granted St. Francis summary judgment on
Kennedy's discriminatory termination claim, because it pre-
dated the effective date of the ADA-July 26, 1992. The ADA
does not apply retroactively to conduct occurring before its
effective date. See Pub. L. No. 10 1-336, 108, 104 Stat. 327,337;
see also Smith v. United Parcel Serv., 65 F.3d 266 (2d Cir. 1995),
19 MPDLR 751. Kennedy was informed in March 1992 that her
employment was being terminated as of September 1992.

The court also granted summary judgment for St. Francis
with respect to Kennedy's ADA retaliation claim. See 42 U.S.C.
§ 12203(a). Kennedy alleged a separate unlawful motive for St.
Francis' decision to eliminate her position and not consider
her for the coordinator job: retaliation for her filing of a
discrimination complaint with the Connecticut Human Rights
Commission (HRC). Kennedy pointed to a St. Francis official's
remark that the co-worker would get the coordinator job unless
"'Beverly gets her way with the Human Rights Commission
and she ends up in the job."' Kennedy's initial complaints of
disability discrimination were related to acts occurring prior to

July 26, 1992--the effective date of the ADA-and were
claimed as violating the Connecticut Fair Employment Practices
Act. The first indication of any complaint by Kennedy of
disability discrimination in violation of the ADA was a February
5, 1993 amendment to her HRC complaint. However, the decision
to eliminate Kennedy's job and offer it in reconfigured form to
another employee was made in February or March 1992, and
the only actionable failure-to-rehire claim asserted by Kenney
began in late 1992, when St. Francis sent back grant funding
for the coordinator job rather than consider Kennedy.

However, a factual issue existed as to whether St. Francis
violated Title I when it refused to allow Kennedy to return to
work after her second disability leave for her final two months.
Kennedy took two medical leaves within one year. St. Francis
asserted that it had a policy requiring employees to be cleared
to work from a medical leave of absence by a physician in
order to determine whether the employee could return without
risk of injury to the employee or patients. A doctor hired by St.
Francis to assess Kennedy's request to return to work reported
that Kennedy's back and leg pain were not wholly physical or
organic, but instead had a mental or psychological component.
The doctor refused to clear Kennedy to return to work until he
had consulted with all of Kennedy's physicians. A jury could
have reasonably concluded that St. Francis erroneously
regarded Kennedy as having a psychological problem, and
that, based on this perceived disability, she was denied the
opportumity to return to her job when she was actually medically
able to work.

Also, a factual issue existed as to whether St. Francis's
failed to consider her for the coordinator job due to her
disability. Kennedy alleged that she attempted to compete for
the job, that she was qualified for the position, that the job
was simply a reconfiguration of Kennedy's eliminated position,
and that St. Francis sent back over $50,000 in state funding
rather than give the position to Kennedy. A St. Francis official
admitted that Kennedy's disability was a factor in the decision
to terminate her employment, because there were times when
Kennedy was not present to carry her duties due to her taking
medical leave.

Title I; Perceived; PTSD

A Louisiana federal court found that a former city firefighter
with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) was not disabled
under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C.
§ 12101 et seq., because he failed to show that his employer
regarded him as disqualified from a class of job. Crocker v.
City ofKenner, 2002 WL 31115255 (E.D. La. Sept 23,2002).

In January 2000, Anthony Crocker, a firefighter with the
City of Kenner, took sick leave based on depression with
anxiety and PTSD resulting from his participation in an accident
scene where his mother died. In August, Crocker's psychiatrist
reported that Crocker could fight fires, but would be unable to
handle accident scenes for six to 12 months. Crocker returned
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to light duty for four hours per day for four days in October. In
November, he was evaluated as totally incapacitated for work.

In February 2001, the city advised Crocker that he would be
terminated in March, because he had exhausted his leave and
his return-to-work date was unknown. Crocker sued the city
under Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117.

The district court granted summary judgment for the city,
finding that Crocker was not disabled under the ADA. He
contended that the city discriminated against him by not
assigning him to light duty after October 2000 on the mistaken
belief that he was disabled from such duty. See 42 U.S.C.
§ 12102(2(C). See also Ortega v. SouthwestAirlines, 1999 WL
1072543 (E.D. La. Nov. 24, 1999), 24 MPDLR 83; Deas v. River
West, L.P, 152 F.3d 471 (5th Cir. 1998), 22 MPDLR 744. However,
Crocker failed to show that the city perceived his PTSD as
substantially limiting him in the major life activity of
working-disqualified from a class ofjobs. See Sutton v. United
AirLines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510.

The court rejected, as a matter of law, Crocker's argument
that the job of "firefighter" constituted a "class of jobs" for
ADA purposes. The Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission defines a "class ofjobs" as "[t]hejob from which
the individual has been disqualified because of an impairment,
and the number and types of jobs utilizing similar training,
knowledge, skills or abilities, within that geographical area,
from which the individual is also disqualified because of the
impairment." See 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(j)(3)(ii)(B). The Fifth Circuit
previously held that firefighters do not constitute a class of
jobs. See Bridges v. City ofBossier 92 F.3d 329 (5th Cir. 1996),
20 MPDLR 682. See also Shipley v. City of Univ. City, 195 F.3d
1020 (8th Cir. 1999), 24 MPDLR 84. The evidence indicated
only that the city considered Crocker to be unable to perform
his particular job as a firefighter.

Title I; Record; Perceived; Lifting Restrictions

The Tenth Circuit held that a former employee with lifting
restrictions was not disabled under the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., for he failed
to show that he had a record of an impairment that substantially
limited the major life activities of performing manual tasks,
lifting, and working, or that he was regarded by his employer
as having such an impairment. Rakity v. Dillon Cos., 302
E3d 1152 (10th Cir. 2002).

King Soopers, a supermarket chain, hired Charles Rakity for
a clerk job, which required heavy lifting and repetitive tasks.
He had a variety of illnesses and injuries, including carpel
tunnel syndrome, shoulder pain, and back problems. In October
1993, Rakity re-injured his back. In January 1994, Rakity's
doctor restricted him from lifting 10 pounds frequently and 15
pounds occasionally. The doctor recommended that Rakity
not return to his all purpose clerk job, but rather to a general
grocery clerk position-a desk job that required little heavy
lifting. That same year, Rakity began working as a grocery

clerk. In October 1996, he sued King for disability
discrimination under Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§12111-12117, but
settled his claim and returned to work as a grocery clerk. His
restrictions were revised to lifting up to 20 pounds frequently
and 40 pounds occasionally. Three months later, Rakity applied
for a promotion to return to the more lucrative all purpose
clerk classification, which was denied because the job exceeded
Rakity's doctor's lifting and repetitive motion restrictions.
Rakity again sued King under Title I, and a Colorado federal
court granted King summary judgment.

The Tenth Circuit affirmed, rejecting Rakity's argument that
he had a record of an impairment that substantially limited the
major life activities of performing manual tasks, lifting, and
working. See 42 U.S.C. 12102(2); see also Toyota Motor Mfg.,
Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 122 S. Ct. 681 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73; Sutton
v. UnitedAirLines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510.
"The most favorable interpretation of Mr.Rakity's medical and
employment records does not suggest he is substantially
impaired in performing manual tasks." Although Rakity
addressed his ability to fulfill various grocery store clerk duties,
the "manual activity of continuously shelving groceries is not
centrally important to most people's daily lives." Rakity failed
to present evidence indicating that his impairments were severe
enough to prevent basic daily manual activities such as
household chores, bathing, or brushing teeth. Two
occupational therapists reported that Rakity's normal daily
activities were not impaired, and Rakity admitted that he could
do light housework, clean, do laundry, prepare his own meals,
and shop.

Nor did Rakity have a record of being substantially impaired
in the major life activity of lifting. In Lusk v. Ryder Integrated
Logistics, 238 F.3d 1237 (10th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 225, the
Tenth Circuit specifically held that medical records
documenting an employee's 40-pound lifting restriction did
not establish a substantial limitation on the major life activity
of lifting. See also Pryor v. Trane Co., 138 F.3d 1024 (5th Cir.
1998), 22 MPDLR 608; McKay v. Toyota Motor Mfg., U.S.A.,
Inc., 110 F.3d 369 (6th Cir. 1997), 21 MPDLR 336; Wooten v.
Farmland Foods, 58 F.3d 382 (8th Cir. 1995), 19 MPDLR 469;
Thompson v. Holy Family Hosp., 121 F.3d 537 (9th Cir. 1997),
21 MPDLR 609. Finally, Rakity's record of missed work due to
surgery, short hospital stays, and rehabilitation did not, by
itself, imply that he had a record of a substantial imitation in
working. See Sorensen v. University of Utah Hosp., 194 F.3d
1084 (10th Cir. 1999), 23 MPDLR 854. Rakity remained employed
at a second job where he sold spas to customers, answered
telephone calls, completed paper work, cleaned displays,
stocked chemical containers on store shelves, and helped with
delivery of spas.

The court also rejected Rakity's argument that King
regarded him as disabled under the ADA. See 42 U.S.C.
§12102(2)(C); Sutton. There was no evidence that King
mistakenly believed that Rakity could not perform manual tasks
that were centrally important to most people's daily lives. King
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regarded Rakity as impaired in his ability to lift based on medical
records, not on the basis of stereotype, myth, or speculation.

Title I; Actual; Perceived; Record; Back Injury

An Iowa federal district court determined that a former
employee with a back injury was not disabled within the
meaning of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42
U.S.C. §12101 et seq., because he failed to show that he was
substantially limited in a major life activity or was regarded as
such, or had a record of a substantially limiting disability.
Hasbrouck v. Youth Servs. Int'l, Inc., 2002 WL 11974043
(N.D. Iowa Aug. 19, 2002).

Charles Hasbrouck, a counselor for Youth Services
International (YSI), injured his back in a car accident and was
permanently restricted from lifting over 40 pounds and
repetitive bending or twisting. YSI terminated Hasbrouck on
the ground that he was not 100 percent healthy, and he sued
for violation of Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117.

The district court granted summary judgment for YSI,
holding that Hasbrouck was not disabled under the ADA. See
42 U.S.C. § 12102(2); see also Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc.,
527 U.S. 471 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510; Toyota Mfg. Ky., Inc. v.
Williams, 122 S. Ct. 681 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. The court rejected
Hasbrouck's argument that he was substantially limited in the
major life activity of lifting. In Snow v. Ridgeview Med. Ctr.,
128 F.3d 1201 (8th Cir. 1997), 22 MPDLR 54, the Eighth Circuit
held that a 25-pound lifting restriction, without additional
evidence, did not demonstrate that an employee was
substantially impaired in the major life activity of lifting. "It is
indisputable that if a 25-pound lifting restriction, without more,
is insufficient to constitute a disability within the meaning of
the ADA, then a 40-pound lifting restriction similarly cannot
pass muster for this purpose." See Aucutt v. Six Flags Over
Mid-Am., Inc., 85 F.3d 1311 (8th Cir. 1996),20 MPDLR 502.

The court also rejected Hasbrouck's argument that he was
regarded by YSI as disabled. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(C); see
also Webb v. Mercy Hosp., 102 F.3d 958 (8th Cir. 1996), 21
MPDLR 62. Hasbrouck merely alleged that YSI regarded him
as having an impairment that prevented him from performing
his job as a counselor. He failed to demonstrate that YSI
perceived his back condition as substantially limiting one or
more of his major life activities, as required by the ADA. See
Aucutt; see also Shipley v. City of Univ. City, 195 F.3d 1020
(8th Cir. 1999), 24 MPDLR 84.

The court further rejected Hasbrouck's argument that he
had a record of a disability. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(B). "This
provision is intended to address discrimination that occurs
because of an individual's history of a disability or because of
an individual's misclassification as disabled." See Land v.
BaptistMed. Ctr., 164 F.3d 423 (8th Cir. 1999), 23 MPDLR 151.
Hasbrouck failed to show that he had, or that YSI relied upon,
a record of having an impairment that substantially limited
one or more of his major life activities.

Title I; Re-employ; Record; Perceived; Pretext;
Back Injury

A Texas federal court decided that factual issues existed as
to whether a former employee with a back injury had a record
of a disability and was regarded by her employer as disabled
under the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et
seq., and whether the employer refused to rehire her because
of her disability. Gonzales v. Columbia Hosp., 218 E Supp.
2d 227 (N.D. Tex. 2002).

After re-injuring her back in November 1994, Vicki Gonzales
was unable to perform her job duties as an assistant head
nurse due to severe pain. In July 1995, Gonzales resigned from
her position, but remained an employee on medical leave until
March 1996, when she formally resigned. Gonzales was paid
$20,000 in exchange for a release of any existing claims arising
out of her employment at the hospital. The settlement was
modified to include that if Gonzales became physically able to
perform the essential functions of the position of a registered
nurse, the hospital would offer her an opportunity to apply for
re-employment. In the summer of 1999, Gonzales reapplied for,
but was not offered, employment. She sued the hospital for
violating Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117.

The district court denied the hospital's motion for summary
judgment. Gonzales conceded that she was not disabled when
she applied for the nursing job in 1999, because she was able
to perform major life activities and essential nursing job
functions. However, a factual issue existed as to whether she
had a record of an impairment that substantially limited the
major life activities of walking, sitting, standing, pushing,
pulling, lifting, cooking, doing housework, washing clothes,
and grocery shopping. See 42 U.S.C. §12102(B), 29 C.F.R.
§ 1630.2(k). See also Dupre v. CharterBehavior Health Sys. of
Lafayette, Inc., 242 F.3d 610 (5th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 226. At
the time of her resignation in 1996, Gonzales was walking with
a cane and could not sit for even short periods of time. The
fact that she received Social Security Disability benefits was
not conclusive proof that she was disabled, but was indicative
of a disability. See Cleveland v. Policy Mgmt. Sys. Corp., 526
U.S. 795 (1999), 23 MPDLR 532.

A factual issue also existed as to whether the hospital
regarded Gonzales as disabled. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(C). See
also Mclnnis v. Alamo Cmty. Coll. Dist., 207 F.3d 276 (5th Cir.
2000), 24 MPDLR 442. The hospital had knowledge of Gonzales'
physical impairment from the doctors' notes on file and her
resignation in 1996 due to her inability to perform her job
functions. Although an employer does not necessarily regard
an employee as having a substantially limiting impairment
simply because it believes the employee is incapable of
performing a particular job, the court found that in light of the
overwhelming indications of Gonzales' health problem on her
job application and in her file, it could not find as a matter of
law that the hospital did not regard her as disabled.

Finally, a factual issue existed as to whether the hospital's

November December 2002 26:6 MPDLR1004



Employment: Disability Defined/Associational Discrimination

proffered reasons for denying Gonzales re-employment---she
refused to allow the hospital to contact her recent employer,
was not the most qualified applicant, and did not have the
requisite acute care experience-were legitimate, or a pretext
for discrimination. Gonzales presented evidence that the
hospital was aware of both Gonzales' prior health history and
her medical condition at the time she reapplied. At an interview,
Gonzales was advised that she would be perfect for the job.
She was sent three letters by the hospital stating why she
would not be rehired and had numerous conversations with
the hospital resources staff, but at no time was advised that
one of the primary reasons for not rehiring Gonzales was her
refusal to allow the hospital to contact her previous employer.

Title I; State Law; Perceived; Record; Work-
related Injuries

An Iowa federal court held that a former employee with
work-related injuries was not regarded as being substantially
limited in a major life activity nor had a record of a substantially
limiting impairment and, thus, was not disabled under the
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et
seq., or the Iowa Civil Rights Act (ICRA), Iowa Code ch. 216.
Simonson v. Trinity Reg'l Health Sys., 221 E Supp. 2d 982
(N.D. Iowa 2002).

Eileen Simonson, a nurse, injured her shoulder in January
1994. When her doctor refused to release her to regular full-
time duty, the hospital asked Simonson to work on a computer
project, which was completed in October 1997. Her doctor
released her to full-time duty, but the hospital said that there
were no full-time jobs available and offered Simonson a part-
time nursing job. While working part-time in April 1998,
Simonson injured her back. She initially worked without
restriction. Between May and June, Simonson was placed on
25-pound lifting restriction, but she returned to regular duty.

In late June, Simonson injured her left arm at work. She was
initially placed on a 15-pound lifting restriction, reduced to 10
pounds, and she returned to regular duty in August. The next
month, Simonson re-injured her back and was placed on a 10-
pound lifting restriction, which was increased to 35 pounds in
December. After Simonson learned that the hospital wing where
she worked was closing, the hospital offered her a registration
clerk job until her termination in September 1999. Simonson
sued the hospital under the ADA Title 1, 42 U.S.C. § § 12111-
12117, and the ICRA, alleging that, because of her disabilities,
the hospital reassigned all other employees but her to new
jobs.

The district court granted summary judgment for the
hospital, holding that Simonson was not disabled under the
ADA or ICRA, making no distinction between Title I and ICRA
claims. The Iowa supreme court had recognized that federal
precedent is applicable to discrimination claims under the
ICRA. See Fuller v. Iowa Dep "t of Human Servs., 576 N.W.2d
324 (Iowa Sup. Ct. 1998), 22 MPDLR 363. The court rejected

Simonson's contention that the hospital regarded her as
disabled due to the work-related injuries that left her physically
impaired for periods of time. See See Brunko v. Mercy Hosp.,
260 F.3d 939 (8th Cir. 2001); Conant v. City of Hibbing, 271
F.3d 782 (8th Cir. 2001), 26 MPDLR 83. Her alleged evidence of
the hospital's mistaken belief that she had a physical
impairment that substantially limited a major life activity was a
statement made by her former nurse manger, Peg Stoolman.
Simonson asserted that when asked whether she would be
considered for one of the available jobs, Stoolman responded,
"'I'm not sure if that's physically a good choice for you."'
However, the record is devoid of any mention by Stoolman of
this statement to any Trinity decision-makers. Moreover,
during this same exchange, Stoolman told Simonson that she
had done a good job and later wrote a glowing letter of
recommendation for Simonson after her termination, which
stated, "She possesses the skills and knowledge base to
provide excellent patient care." Nowhere in the letter is there
any indication that Stoolman regarded Simonson as physically
incapable of performing nursing work.

The court also rejected Simonson's argument that her work-
related accidents created a record of a substantially limiting
impairment. See Gutridge v. Clure, 153 F.3d 898 (8th Cir. 1998),
22 MPDLR 748. While Simonson's injuries were evidence of a
history of impairment, they were not evidence of a history of a
disability. See Land v. Baptist Med. Ctr., 164 F.3d 423 (8th Cir.
1999), 23 MPDLR 151.

Title I; Perceived; Stroke; Paralysis

An Illinois federal court dismissed an Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA) Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117, action
where an employee with paralysis of his hand failed to identify
which major activity his employer regarded him as being
substantially limited in. Assuming that work was the major life
activity, the employer's requirement that he undergo an
assessment of his functional capabilities did not show that it
regarded him as unable to perform a class or broad range of
jobs. Biggs v. United Airlines, Inc., 215 F Supp. 2d 982
(N.D. Ill, 2002).

Lonnie Biggs, a lead ramp serviceman for United Airlines
(United), had a stroke with permanent paralysis of his right
hand. After limited duty, Biggs returned to regular duty as
lead ramp serviceman. After a co-worker reported that Biggs
was not performing his job functions, United directed Biggs
to undergo an assessment. A United doctor reported that Biggs
had long-term limitations in lifting, pushing, and/or pulling;
climbing ladders; using both arms fully without restrictions;
and working with hazardous machinery or above ground level.
Based on this report, United determined that Biggs' restrictions
prohibited him from performing his essential job functions
and placed him on sick leave. United offered Biggs the product
sort lead position, and he returned to work. He sued United
for violation of Title I.
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The district court granted United's motion for summary
judgment, finding that Biggs was not disabled under the ADA.
Biggs contended that United regarded his paralysis as
substantially limiting him in one or more of his major life
activities. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102; see also Sutton v. UnitedAir
Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510; Krocka v. City
of Chicago, 203 F.3d 507 (7th Cir. 2000), 25 MPDLR 420.
However, "the Seventh Circuit has emphasized that an ADA
plaintiff must articulate which of his major life activities has
been substantially limited ... ." See Amadio v. Ford Motor
Co., 238 F.3d 919 (7th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 222. Because Biggs
did not indicate in which major life activity United regarded
him to be substantially limited, he failed to meet his burden of
proving a prima facie case.

Assuming that work was the major life activity, he did not
show that United regarded him as substantially limited in his
ability to perform a class or broad range ofjobs. See Murphy
v. United Parcel Serv., 527 U.S. 516 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510.
The court was not convinced that United's requirement that
he undergo an assessment of his functional capabilities
demonstrated that it regarded him as disabled. See Krocka.
That requirement merely showed that United believed that
Biggs could no longer work as a lead ramp serviceman in
relief, not that he could not work in any capacity as a lead
serviceman. In fact, United subsequently identified two lead
ramp serviceman positions in the product sort area that were
consistent with Biggs' medical restrictions.

Title I; Record; Perceived; Graves' Disease

A Kentucky federal court denied a motion for reconsideration
brought by a former employee with Graves' disease, finding
that she failed to show that she had a record of, or was
regarded by her employer as having, a substantially limiting
impairment under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA),
42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. Edwards v. Ford Motor Co., 218 E
Supp. 2d 846 (W.D. Ky. 2002).

Wendy Edwards filed a lawsuit against Ford for employment
discrimination under the ADA Title 1, 42 U.S.C. § § 12111-12117,
and the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), 29 U.S.C.
§2601 et seq. Previously, the court held that Ford did not violate
the FMLA when it terminated Edwards, because she had
already exhausted her leave under that statute. Alternatively,
the court held that Edward's FMLA claim was time-barred.
See 179 F. Supp. 2d 174 (W.D. Ky. Oct. 11, 2001), 26 MPDLR
498. In a second decision, the court denied summary judgment
to Ford on Edward's ADA claim, finding, among other things,
that Edward's Graves' disease was a physical impairment that
substantially limited her major life activities of sleeping and
caring for herself. However, following the U.S. Supreme Court's
decision in Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S.
184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73, the court granted Ford's motion to
reconsider. The court then granted Ford summary judgment,
finding that Edwards was not disabled under the ADA, for

she failed to show that her Graves' disease substantially limited
her in the major life activities of sleeping and caring for herself.
Edwards again moved for reconsideration under 42 U.S.C.
§ 12102(2)(B) and (C), arguing that she had a record of, and
was regarded as having, a substantially limiting impairment.

The district court denied Edwards' motion. Edwards argued
that Ford possessed numerous documents detailing her history
of Graves' disease and its deleterious effects on her health.
However, "[t]hat Ford may have had extensive paperwork
describing her illness does not transform the degree to which
the impairment was substantially limiting so that Plaintiff may
pursue a viable § 12102(2)(B) record of disability claim."

Furthermore, Ford's request in 1998, two years after her
termination, for information regarding Edward's medical
condition and her physical abilities did not indicate that the
company regarded her Graves' disease as substantially limiting
her ability to work in September 1996. Ford had requested this
information, because it was contemplating Edwards'
reinstatement at that time. Ford could not know whether to
rehire Edwards or how to accommodate her without asking for
this information. In fact, Ford's request "reflects the absence
of knowledge about Plaintiff's condition, rather than the
existence of a misperception." Moreover, none of the evidence
introduced by Edwards indicates that Ford harbored
stereotypic assumptions about her Graves' disease.

Title I; State Law; Perceived; Heart Condition;
Diverticulitis

A New York federal court decided that a former employee
who took several weeks of sick leave failed to show that his
employer regarded his heart condition and diverticulitis as
substantially limiting his ability to work and, thus, was not
disabled under the Americans with Disability Act (ADA), 42
U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., or the New York Human Rights Law
(NYHRL), N.Y. Exec. Law §290 et seq. Adams v. Master Carvers
of Jamestown, Ltd., 2002 WL 31194562 (W.D.N. E Sept. 12,
2002).

In April 1999, John Adams began working as a human
resources coordinator for Master Carvers of Jamestown. He
was hospitalized in late July relating to his diverticulitis, and
had surgery in late August. He missed work while he
convalesced until September 27. He returned to work the next
day and was fired for economic reasons. Adams sued Master
Carvers under Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117, and the NYHRL,
alleging it perceived his disabilities as substantially limiting
his ability to work.

The district court granted Master Carvers summary
judgment. Adams failed to show that he was regarded as
significantly restricted in his ability to perform a broad class
of jobs, not just restricted from doing his particular job. See
Colwell v. Suffolk County Police Dep 't, 158 F.3d 635, 646 (2d
Cir. 1998), 22 MPDLR 745. Evidence of Master Carvers'
awareness of Adams' need to take several weeks of sick leave
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to recuperate was insufficient. This court previously held "that
the need to recuperate, including post-operative recovery,
does not constitute a 'substantial limitation' on the major life
activity of working within the meaning of the ADA." See
Murray v. Rick Bokman, Inc., 2001 WL 603698 (W.D.N.Y May
24, 2001), 25 MPDLR 597. To be substantially limiting, the
"impairment's impact must be permanent or long term." See
Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 122 S. Ct. 681, 691
(2002), 26 MPDLR 73. Even if Adams' impairments are
permanent, their impact-his need for sick leave-was of too
short a duration to be considered substantially limiting. See
Adams v. Citizens Advice Bureau, 187 F.3d 315, 316-17 (2d Cir.
1999) (three-and-one-half month inability to work due to injury
not substantially limiting). The "vast majority of courts
elsewhere which have considered the question" have held
that temporary disabilities do not trigger the protections of
the ADA. See Graafv. North Shore Univ. Hosp., 1 F. Supp. 2d
318,321 (S.D.N.Y 1998).

§501; Actual; Qualified; Reasonable
Accommodation; Pretext; Arbitration;
Alcoholism; Depression

A Maryland federal court found that, pursuant to the
Rehabilitation Act §501, 29 U.S.C. §791 etseq., a former U.S.
Postal Service (USPS) worker sufficiently established that his
alcoholism and depression constituted protected disabilities,
that he was qualified for his position if granted a reasonable
accommodation, and that his employer terminated him solely
because of his disabilities. Also, the employer's mistaken belief
that a prior arbitrator's order allowed the employee's
termination did not immunize the employer from disability
discrimination. Baucom v. Potter, 2002 WL 31261157 (D.
Md Sept. 17, 2002).

John Baucom sued the USPS under §501 after he was
terminated for not being fit for duty. The USPS moved for
summary judgment, and Baucom cross-moved for summary
judgment.

The district court granted Baucom's motion. First, Baucom
sufficiently established for summary judgment purposes that
he was disabled under the Rehabilitation Act. By his own
testimony and that of his doctors, Baucom's alcoholism and
depression placed him in a near stupor and prevented him
from performing virtually every major life activity-i.e.,
sleeping, caring for himself, and working. See Sutton v. United
AirLines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471,490 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510.

Second, Baucom could have performed his essential job
functions if provided with a reasonable accommodation. One
psychiatrist testified that with appropriate inpatient treatment,
outpatient care, and follow-up, Baucom could have returned
to his duties in "as little as three weeks." Significantly, shortly
after his termination, Baucom went through a detoxification
program and has remained alcohol free since 1997. Furthermore,
courts have recognized that a leave of absence to obtain

medical treatment for alcoholism is a reasonable
accommodation if it is likely that the plaintiff would be able to
safely return to his or her duties. See Rodgers v. Lehman, 869
F.2d 253,259 (4th Cir. 1989), 13 MPDLR 361; Schmidt v. Safeway
Inc., 864 F. Supp. 991 (D. Or. 1994), 19 MPDLR 56. Here, rather
than offer medical leave to Baucom, the USPS terminated him
because he had been found unfit for duty.

Third, Baucom had been found unfit solely because of his
disabilities-alcoholism and depression. The court rejected
USPS's defense that it terminated Baucom because of his failure
to cooperate during two fitness-for-duty examinations. While
USPS tried to fire Baucom for not cooperating, an arbitrator
ordered that USPS's removal action be rescinded. Baucom
cooperated for the third time, but failed to pass the exam.

The court also rejected USPS's defense that Baucom was
attempting to improperly collaterally attack the arbitrator's
ruling. The arbitrator ordered Baucom to be rescheduled for a
fitness-for-duty examination and reinstated if fit. However, the
arbitrator did not prescribe the actions to be taken if Baucom
did not pass this examination. Even if USPS believed that
termination was allowed under the arbitration's order, such a
position would essentially immunize an employer from liability
for discrimination based on a misunderstanding that an
arbitrator's decision allowed that action.

Finally, as for USPS's defense that it had not provided an
accommodation because Baucom had not requested one,
communications from a physician to an employer may serve
as an accommodation request, especially in situations
involving mental illness or addictions. See Bultemeyer v. Fort
Wayne Cmty. Schs., 100 F.3d 1281, 1285 (7th Cir. 1996), 21
MPDLR 75; Criado v. IBM Corp., 145 F.3d 437,444 (1st Cir.
1998), 24 MPDLR 274. Here, Baucom's doctor had informed
USPS that he would be unable to regain his job without first
receiving inpatient treatment. Thus, USPS could not maintain
that it was unaware of either the need for accommodation or
Baucom's desire for an accommodation.
[Editor ' Note: The Reporter thanks the plaintiff's attorney,
Marc Greidinger, Ellicott City, MD, 410-727-0660, for
sending us a copy of this decision.]

Title I; State Law; Actual; Confidentiality;
Diabetes; Bipolar Disorder

A Maine federal court dismissed a former town employee's
failure-to-accommodate claims, finding that he failed to show
that his diabetes and bipolar disorder substantially limited the
major life activity of sleeping and, thus, constituted protected
disabilities under the Maine Human Rights Act (MHRA), 5
Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. §4551 et seq., and the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA) Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117. Also,
because the employee was not disabled under the MHRA, he
could not sue the town for releasing confidential information
about his medical conditions to the newspapers. This breach-
of-confidentiality claim also failed under the ADA, for he
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volunteered this information. Pouliot v. Town of Fairfield,
2002 WL 2022609 (D. Me. Sept. 4, 2002).

In 1994, Jean Pouliot, police chief of the Town of Fairfield,
was diagnosed with non-insulin-dependent diabetes. In 1998,
he began to experience increased personal and professional
stress, depression, and chronic fatigue. On August 24, 1999,
the Town Council had a meeting to discuss the police
department's overspending, at which time Pouliot apologized
for an overdraft, citing medical health and personal issues.
The council suspended him for two weeks without pay and
required restitution. On September 1, at a council executive
meeting, Pouliot was asked to discuss his health problems. He
requested that the information be kept confidential. During an
investigation by the state Attorney General's office into
financial irregularities in the police department, two newspapers
quoted members of the council as saying that Pouliot's medical
difficulties and the effect of his diabetes medication had
"clouded his mind." The town requested Pouliot's resignation.

When Pouliot requested time to respond, the town
scheduled a disciplinary hearing to discuss Pouliot's alleged
purchase of personal items with town money and other issues.
Pouliot's attorney advised the town that Pouliot was in no
medical condition to deal with the hearing at that time and
requested that the town put off the hearing to enable Pouliot
to attend counseling. The town granted a one-week delay, but
denied further requests for a postponement. Pouliot resigned.
He was later diagnosed with bipolar disorder. Pouliot sued the
town under the MHRA and Title I, alleging it failed to
accommodate his disabilities by postponing the hearing and
had wrongfully disclosed confidential information about his
medical conditions.

The district court granted summary judgment for the town.
Pouliot failed to establish that he was disabled under either
the MHRA or the ADA. See 42 U.S.C. §12102(2); Santiago
Clemente v. Executive Airlines, Inc., 213 F.3d 25 (1st Cir. 2000),
24 MPDLR 257. He alleged that his diabetes and bipolar
disorder substantially limited him in the major life activity of
sleeping. See Criadov. IBMCorp., 145 F.3d 437 (lst Cir. 1998),
22 MPDLR 474. However, his Pouliot's inability to sleep was
episodic and intermittent, occurring first in 1984, then in 1996,
and again in November 1999. See E.E.O. C. v. Sara Lee Corp.,
237 F.3d 349 (4th Cir. 2001),21 MPDLR 216; Doyal v. Oklahoma
Heart, Inc., 213 F.3d 492 (10th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 597. Pouliot
failed to show that his lack of sleep was worse than the quality
of sleep of the general population.

The court rejected Pouliot's argument that the town violated
the MHRA and ADA by releasing confidential medical
information about his medical conditions. The MHRA requires
that a plaintiff asserting a claim for violation of the release of
confidential information be a qualified individual with a
disability under the ADA. See 5 Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. §4572(2).
The finding that Pouliot was not disabled under the ADA
precluded his claim under the MHRA.

However, the ADA, itself, does not require that an individual

be disabled in order to assert a claim for disclosure of
confidential information. See 42 U.S.C. § 12112(d)(4). The ADA
states that the requirements regarding confidential information
apply to information obtained through an employer
examination conducted as part of a health program, or an
"employer inquiry" regarding an employee's ability to perform
job-related functions. See 42 U.S.C. § 12112(d)(4)(C). Pouliot's
medical information was not obtained as a result of an
"employer inquiry." Pouliot had voluntarily told town officials
that he had diabetes prior to the Town Council executive
meeting, and had made it public that he had a medical condition.
See Cash v. Smith, 213 F.3d 1301 (1 1th Cir. 2000), 25 MPDLR
67. Even if there were an "employer inquiry" by the town,
Pouliot would not be able to maintain a breach of confidentiality
claim, because he could not show an injury specifically caused
by the disclosure. See Tice v. Centre Area Transp. Auth., 247
F.3d 506 (3d Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 589.

Title I; Actual; Qualified; Pretext; Personality
Disorder

A Minnesota federal court ruled that an employee
established that his personality disorder-which prevented
him from doing his job in front of others-was a disability
under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C.
§ 12101 et seq.; that he could perform his job with reasonable
accommodation; and that he was fired due to his disability.
Anderson v. Independent Sch. Dist. No. 281, 2002 WL
31242212 (D. Minn. Oct. 4, 2002).

Douglas Anderson, a school night janitor, had recurrent
bipolar depression, attention deficit disorder (ADD), and a
mixed-type personality, causing stress, insomnia, and chest
pain. He was extremely uncomfortable in crowds and unable
to work in the school building during the day or in the summer
when staff were present. In 1995, his symptoms worsened,
and he took the summer off, using accumulated vacation time
and family leave. When he returned to work, he began to receive
reprimands. The next summer, Anderson's doctor wrote that
due to his medical condition he would need leave from June 10
to August 26. Over the course of the next school year,
Anderson received several questionable reprimands. After he
returned from summer leave in 1997, Anderson was offered a
position as night janitor in another school, and accepted the
job on August 30. However, on September 4, the school wrote
to Anderson, citing incidents of insubordination, and
terminated him. Anderson sued the school district for violation
of the ADA Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§12111-12117.

The district court denied the school district's motion for
summary judgment. First, Anderson presented enough
evidence that he was disabled under the ADA. Due to his
inability to work in the presence of people, he was substantially
limited in a major life activity. Anderson had this condition for
over 30 years and received therapy on a monthly basis. While
capable of performing job functions, he was unable to do them
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in front of groups of people, which disqualified him from an
entire class or broad range of jobs.

Second, Anderson showed that he was qualified to perform
the essential functions of his job. He had done the same job
for 25 years. Anderson had also performed the job with an
accommodation-for the last two he had taken leave during
the summer.

Third, Anderson showed that his termination may have been
motivated by his attempts to seek an accommodation for his
disability. After 23 years of employment, Anderson had
received his first reprimand just a few months after his first
extended summer leave. The reprimands increased as he
continued to take extended summer leaves. Moreover,
Anderson produced sufficient evidence that the school
district's reasons for terminating him--he had failed to punch
out for lunch or breaks and had taken extended lunch
breaks-was a pretext for discrimination. Significantly, he had
shown that the rules he supposedly broke were rules that
were not strictly enforced against anyone but him. The time
card record indicated that nearly no other employee punched
in or out for lunch or breaks.

§504; Actual; Reasonable Accommodation;
Depression

An Indiana federal court held that factual issues existed
under the Rehabilitation Act §504,29 U.S.C. §794, as to whether
an employee with depression was disabled, and whether his
employer reasonably accommodated his condition.
Schopmeyer v. Plainfield Juvenile Corr. Facility, 2002 WL
31255466 (S.D. Ind. Sept. 17, 2002).

Joel Schopmeyer, a teacher at the Plainfield Juvenile
Correctional Facility (PJCF), went on disability leave from early
1994 to September 1995. Upon returning, he requested and
received an assignment working in Cottage 13, a lower stress
population. In October 1997, PJCF transferred Schopmeyer to
the general population where his art certification and skills
were needed. Schopmeyer's depression increased after the
transfer, and he took disability leave. When he attempted to
return in November 1999, he asked for the Cottage 13 teaching
position, but learned it had been eliminated. PJCF refused
Schopmeyer's request for a smaller, less disruptive classroom,
and he returned to teaching in the general population. In
January 2000, Schopmeyer applied for a position teaching
fewer students than the average classroom, but was not hired
on the ground that his salary was too high for that job.
Schopmeyer sued PJCF under §504.

The district court denied PJCF's motion for summary
judgment. First, relying on cases brought under the Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., the court
concluded that a factual issue existed as to whether
Schopmeyer was disabled under § 504. The Rehabilitation Act
incorporates the standards of the employment provisions of
the ADA. See 29 U.S.C. §794(d); see also Krocka v. City of

Chicago, 203 F.3d 507 (7th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 563.
Depression may qualify as a disability if it substantially limits
a major life activity. See Schneiker v. Fortis Ins. Co., 200 F.3d
1055 (7th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 238. Since 1993, Schopmeyer
had been under regular professional treatment for depression,
which included medication and counseling. He raised a factual
issue that his condition substantially impaired his ability to
read, sleep, concentrate, and interact with others. His
depression forced him to take disability leave on two occasions.
His treating psychiatrist reported that when Schopmeyer's
depression symptoms are at their most severe levels, he is
unable to work or function in any meaningful capacity for
months at a time.

Second, a factual issue existed as to whether PJCF
discriminated against Schopmeyer by denying him reasonable
accommodations. Schopmeyer made three accommodation
requests, all of which were denied. In October 1997, PJCF
denied Schopmeyer's request that he remain in the Cottage 13
position on the ground that Schopmeyer was needed to teach
art. However, after his transfer, he did not teach art. In denying
Schopmeyer's November 1999 request to be placed in a smaller,
less disruptive classroom, PJCF gave no explanation. As to
his January 2000 request, a factual issue existed as to whether
there was more flexibility in funding than PJCF acknowledged.

Title I; Actual; Temporary; Perceived; FMLA;
Depression

The Seventh Circuit affirmed that a former employee with
depression who was prevented from working for just over
eight weeks was not disabled under the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., nor regarded
as such by his employer. Also, his claim under the Family and
Medical Leave Act (FMLA), 29 U.S.C. §2601 et seq., failed,
because he would have been terminated for poor job
performance regardless of his having taken medical leave.
Ogborn v. United Food & Commercial Workers Union, 305
E3d 763 (7th Cir. 2002).

From 1990 to 1997, Ogborn, a business agent at United Food
& Commercial Workers Union, was counseled frequently and
suspended three times for poor performance. After his last
suspension for three days, he was told that "one more
instance" would result in his termination. The day after his
suspension ended, Ogborn saw a doctor, who diagnosed
depression and took medical leave. While Ogborn was on leave,
his supervisors continued to receive complaints about his
prior work performance. On October 3, the union terminated
Ogborn. On October 27, he certified in his application for
unemployment insurance that he could return to work. Ogborn
subsequently sued the union for violations of the ADA Title I,
42 U.S.C. §§12111-12117, and the FMLA. The district court
granted the union summary judgment. See 2000 WL 1409855
(N.D. Ill. Sept. 25,2000), 24 MPDLR 926.

The Seventh Circuit affirmed. As to the Title I claim, Ogbom
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was not disabled under the ADA. Major depression can
constitute a disability under the ADA, see Krocka v. City of
Chicago, 203 F.3d 507, 512 (7th Cir.2000), 24 MPDLR 242;
Schneikerv. FortisIns. Co., 200 F.3d 1055, 1061 (7th Cir. 2000),
24 MPDLR 238; Mustafa v. Clark County Sch. Dist., 157 F.3d
1169, 1174 (9th Cir. 1998), 22 MPDLR 762. However, intermittent,
episodic impairments are not disabilities. See Vande Zande v.
Wisconsin Dep't ofAdmin., 44 F.3d 538, 544 (7th Cir. 1995), 19
MPDLR 189; Pollard v. High s ofBaltimore, Inc., 281 F.3d 462,
468 (4th Cir. 2002), 26 MPDLR 477; 29 C.F.R. Pt. 1630, App.
§ 1630.20). Ogborn's depression prevented him from working
for just over eight weeks--from August 25, 1997, when he was
diagnosed with depression, to October 23, when he certified
that he could return to work. He failed to show that his
depression limited his ability to work before August 1997.
Moreover, Ogborn failed to show that the union regarded his
depression as preventing him from working for a length of
time in excess of the actual period he was on medical leave.
See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(C); Dvorak v. Mostardi Platt Assocs.,
Inc., 289 F.3d 479,483-84 (7th Cir. 2002), 26 MPDLR 702.

Finally, the union did not violate the FMLA, because it
would have fired Ogborn for poor performance regardless of
his having taken medical leave. See Kohls v. Beverly Enters.
Wis., Inc. 259 F.3d 799,804 (7th Cir. 2001); Hatchett v. Philander
Smith Coll., 251 F.3d 670, 677 (8th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 630.
The union had discovered additional evidence of Ogborn's
poor work performance during his medical leave after warning
him that further performance problems would result in
termination. Ogborn failed to negate this evidence.

Title I; Actual; Record; Perceived; Alcoholism

The First Circuit ruled that an employee with alcoholism
was not disabled under the Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADA), 42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq., because he failed to show
that he was, or was regarded as, substantially limited in the
major life activity of working, or had a record of a substantially
limiting impairment. Bailey v. Georgia-Pac. Corp., 306 E3d
1162 (1st Cir. 2002).

While employed as a paper handler for the Georgia-Pacific
Corporation, George Bailey was convicted of driving while
intoxicated and sentenced to four months in prison. Bailey
asked Georgia-Pacific to supervise him in a work release
program that would allow him to return to his job, but Georgia-
Pacific refused, even though it had done so for other
employees. After using up all of his accrued leave, Bailey still
faced additional months injail, and Georgia-Pacific terminated
him because he was "unavailable for work." He sued, alleging
violation of Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117. The district court
granted summary judgment for Georgia-Pacific, finding that
Bailey's request that Georgia-Pacific supervise him in a work
release program was not an accommodation of his disability,
and its refusal was based on his alcohol-related misconduct,
not on his disability. See 176 F. Supp. 2d 3 (D. Me. 2001), 26

MPDLR 316.
The First Circuit affirmed on different grounds, finding that

Bailey was not disabled under the ADA. He failed to show
that he was substantially limited in the major life activity of
working---"significantly restricted in the ability to perform
either a class ofjobs or a broad range ofjobs in various classes
as compared to the average person having comparable training,
skills and abilities." See 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(j)(3)(i). He did not
present ". . . evidence about the accessible geographic area,
the numbers and types of jobs in the area foreclosed due to
the impairment, and the types of training, skills, and abilities
required by the jobs." Id. at § 1630.2(j)(3)(ii) (A)-(C). See also
Duncan v Washington Metro. Area Transit Auth., 240 F.3d
1110, 1115-116 (D.C. Cir.) (en banc), cert. denied, 122 S. Ct. 49
(2001), 25 MPDLR 402. Bailey's evidence only established that
he experienced difficulties in a single job, and even those
difficulties were "isolated and, for the most part, not
momentous." Although Bailey was occasionally unable to
accept overtime shifts because of his drinking, there was no
indication that such assignments were required for continued
employment, or that declining overtime adversely affected
Bailey's standing with his employer. Furthermore, the fact that
on a single occasion Bailey was sent home by his employer
for having allegedly consumed alcohol just before his shift
reflects oily an isolated problem. Moreover, his alcohol-related
incarceration only prevented him from performing a broad range
ofjobs for a short time.

Bailey also failed to show that he had a record of a
substantially limiting disability, or that Georgia-Pacific believed
that his alcoholism significantly interfered with the major life
activity of working. At most, Georgia-Pacific believed that
Bailey was unable to meet the requirements of his particular
job, primarily because of his temporary incarceration.

Title I; Actual; Perceived; Physical, Mental
Impairments; FMLA; Notice

An Illinois federal court held that a police officer with a
variety of physical and mental conditions was not disabled or
regarded as such under the Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADA), 42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq. Also, she failed to give her
employer proper notice of her need for leave under the Family
and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), 29 U.S.C. §2601 et seq.
Kramarski v. Village of Orland Park, 2002 WL 1827637
(N.D. IlL Aug. 9,2002).

In October 1996, Roberta Kramarski, a police officer for
Orland Park, was injured during a training exercise and suffered
back pain, difficulty breathing, and other health problems. On
January 5, 1999, she underwent outpatient nasal surgery to
correct problems allegedly stemming from the training incident.
Unexpected complications arose, and Kramarski's doctor
placed her on prescription narcotic analgesic, which by police
department regulations precluded Kramarski from reporting
for duty. Kramarski advised the police department that she
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would not be at work due to her surgery, but did not mention
the prescription medication. The police department
recommended that Kramarski be terminated, and Orland Park
approved the termination for Kramarski's failure to answer
questions dealing with her workers' compensation claim, failure
to produce notes or documents relating to communications
she had with the police department regarding the days she
was absent from duty, and failure return to work. Kramarski
sued Orland Park for violations of the ADA Title 1, 42 U.S.C.
§§12111-12117, and the FMLA.

The district court granted summary judgment for Orland
Park on Kramarski's Title I claim, holding that she failed to
establish that she was disabled under the ADA. See 42 U.S.C.
§ 12102(2). Kramarski alleged that her impairments-post-
traumatic stress disorder, major depression, breathing
difficulties prior to nasal surgery, neck pain, osteoarthritis,
cervical pain, and decreased fine motor coordination in her
hands-caused her problems eating, sleeping, breathing, and
seeing. However, Kramarski presented no medical evidence
that these impairments substantially impaired any of the ADA's
major life activities. The court also rejected Kramarski's
argument that Orland Park regarded her as disabled. See 42
U.S.C. §12102(2)(C). She did not show that Orland Park believed
her substantially limited in her ability to work as a result of her
impairments, or that police officials drew conclusions from her
perceived impairments based on myths, fears, or stereotypes.
See Skorup v. Modern Door Corp., 153 F.3d 512 (7th Cir. 1998),
22 MPDLR 751. The Seventh Circuit "has consistently refused
to assume a perception of disability based on the mere fact of
termination." See Moore v. J.B. Hunt Transport, Inc., 221 F.3d
944 (7th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 783.

The court also granted summary judgment for Orland Park
on Kramarski's FMLA claim, finding that she failed to provide
her employer with timely and adequate notice of her need for
FMLA leave. See Collins v, NTN-Bower Corp., 272 F.3d 1006
(7th Cir. 2001). Due to unexpected complications arising from
nasal reconstruction surgery, Kramarski was prescribed a
narcotic analgesic. Police department regulations prohibit an
officer using such medication from reporting for duty.
Consequently, once this medication was prescribed, Kramarski
had a duty to inform the police department of the need for
leave, the reason for leave, and the timing and expected
duration for leave "as soon as practicable." See 29 C.F.R.
§825.302(b). Although Kramarski called in to the police
department stating that she would not be able to work, the
fact that she might not be able to return to work for an extended
period of time due to the medication was not made known to
the police department after several weeks of Kramarski calling
in sick.

§501; Actual; Depression

A Maryland federal court found that a former employee whose
personality conflicts with a particular supervisor resulted in

depression was not substantially limited in the major life
activities of working or social interaction and, thus, was not
disabled under the Rehabilitation Act §501, 29 U.S.C. §791 et
seq. Reagan v. England, 218 F Supp. 2d 742 (D. Md. 2002).

Michelle Reagan, a long-time civilian federal employee,
began having serious difficulties working with her second-
line supervisor, Wendy Whitney, almost from the start of her
job at the Naval Academy. Reagan filed numerous complaints
and sought a transfer. Although the Navy temporarily
reassigned her, she was required to return to her original job.
Reagan then requested sick leave based on the depression
caused by the stress of working for Whitney. Although her
treating psychologist, Richard Podolin, submitted letters in
support of her request, it was denied. When she failed to
return to work, she was terminated.

However, pursuant to a settlement agreement, she was
allowed to return to work for a probationary period. During
this period, she became extremely upset about a review of her
work by her immediate supervisor, whom she believed was
acting at the instigation of Whitney. She attempted to file a
complaint with the local EEO officer. In a tearful discussion
with an employee from the human resources department, she
used profanity and was perceived as physically threatening,
although she did not expressly threaten anyone. After an
investigation of the incident, Reagan was fired. Regan sued
the Navy, alleging disability discrimination under §501.

The district court granted summary judgment in favor of
the Navy, finding that Reagan was not disabled under the
Rehabilitation Act. She failed to show that she was
substantially limited in the major life activities of working or
social interaction. See 29 U.S.C. §705(9)(B). With respect to
working, both Reagan and her psychologist admitted that
Reagan could perform her current job if given a different
supervisor. "A personality conflict between an employee and
a supervisor-even one that triggers the employee's
depression--4s not enough to establish that the employee is
disabled, so long as the employee could still perform the job
under a different supervisor." See Schneiker v. Fortis Ins. Co.,
200 F.3d 1055, 1062 (7th Cir. 2000). Moreover, both admitted
that she could perform many other jobs as well. Thus, Reagan
was not precluded from working in a broad class of jobs.

With respect to social interaction, "Mere trouble getting
along with co-workers is not sufficient to show a substantial
limitation [in social interaction]... [A] plaintiff must show that
his relations with others were characterized on a regular basis
by severe problems, for example consistently high levels of
hostility, social withdrawal, or failure to communicate when
necessary." See Lemire v. Silva, 104 F. Supp. 2d 80, 88 (D.
Mass. 2000). Reagan's psychologist testified in general terms
that her limitations on social interactions could be triggered
by people other than Whitney, but did not offer any specific
details based on personal knowledge. Moreover, both Reagan
and her psychologist emphasized that Reagan was able to
function well when she was temporarily transferred away from

November December 200226:6 MPDLR



Employment: Disability Defined/Assoclatlonal Discrimination

Whitney. In addition, Reagan had never had a problem with
social interactions in the workplace during her long career
with the federal government prior to working for Whitney.

Hiring; Title I; Actual; Perceived; Mitigating
Measures; Hearing Aids; Safety Risk

A Maryland federal court ruled that ajob applicant was not
disabled under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42
U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., because, with hearing aids, he recovered
virtually all of his auditory capacity. Also, the employer's
refusal to hire the applicant on the ground that he posed a
safety risk due to his abnormal hearing did not show that it
perceived him as substantially limited in the major life activity
of hearing. Martell v. Sparrows Point Scrap Processing, 214
E Supp. 2d 527 (D. Md. 2002).

Robert Martell applied for a job with Sparrows Point Scrap
Processing as a crane operator. After a physical exam disclosed
his hearing impairment, Sparrows Point withdrew the job offer
because even with aids his hearing impairment would pose a
danger to Martell and others. Martell sued under Title I, 42
U.S.C. §§12111-12117.

The district court granted Sparrows Point's motion for
summary judgment. Martell was not disabled under the ADA,
for he failed to show that he was substantially limited in the
major life activity of hearing. See Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc.
v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. The word
"substantial" clearly precluded impairments that interfere in
only a minor way with the performance of manual tasks. Martell
could communicate without his hearing aids in some contexts.
Moreover, when he used his hearing aids, he recovered
virtually all of his auditory capacity. See Sutton v. United Air
Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510 (holding that
corrective measures must be taken into account under the
ADA).

Further, Martell failed to show that Sparrows Point
"regarded him" as substantially impaired in the major life
activity of hearing. See Rhoads v. FD.LC., 257 F.3d 373, 390
(4th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 806. Sparrows Point conditioned its
employment offer on the completion of a successful physical
examination, and then withdrew its offer when the medical
report concluded that Martell had "abnormal hearing." To
conclude that Martell's impairment was too great a safety risk
was within the discretion of company officials. An error in risk
assessment was not the same as an error in the assessment of
Martell's impairment.

§504; State Law; Actual; Record; Perceived;
Walking

A Maine federal court ruled that a former employee with a
shortened leg--mitigated with the use of a heel lift-failed to
show that he was disabled, regarded as such, or had a record
of a disability under the Rehabilitation Act §504, 29 U.S.C.

§794, or the Maine Human Rights Act (MHRA), 5 Me. Rev.
Stat. Ann. §4551 etseq. Lyons v. Louisiana Pac. Corp., 217E
Supp. 2d 171 (D. Me. 2002).

Due to an auto accident, Richard Lyons' left leg was
shortened by one half inch, so he wore a lift in the heel of his
left shoe. In 1982, Louisiana Pacific Corporation (LPC) hired
him as an electrician. Lyons experienced osteoarthritis in his
left ankle, which resolved itself in June 2000 after treatment. In
February 2000, Lyons' performance evaluation noted that he
needed to be more aware of safety procedures. In 1999, he had
been unable to combat a fire at the plant and had incorrectly
wired an office. Lyons was fired in September 2000, after an
incident in which while replacing some equipment, he damaged
it and almost electrocuted himself. He sued LPC, contending
that he was fired because of his disability, in violation of §504
and the MHRA.

The district court granted summary judgment in favor of
LPC. Lyons was not disabled under either statute. He failed to
show that he was substantially limited in the major life activity
of walking. See PGA Tour, Inc. v. Martin, 532 U.S. 661, 668
(2001); Gillen v. Fallon Ambulance Serv., Inc., 283 F.3d 11,21
(1st Cir. 2002). Although Lyons' leg impairment was permanent,
it only resulted in a minor impact on his walking when he used
the heel lift as a mitigating measure. See Sutton v. United Air
Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471,482-83 (1999). Lyons was able to do
substantial walking at work, and there was no evidence that
his non-work activities were limited in any way. In fact, Lyons
admitted that his leg condition was only a "slight medical
problem," and that he did not feel he was limited in any activity
except for hiking or running up Mount Kathadin, which many
individuals would be unable to do. Lyons also testified that
his ankle ached at night, but that he was able to sleep "for the
most part." Lyons further stated that while he had pain if he
walked long distances, he was able to walk for a substantial
portion of his workday for approximately 18 years. Furthermore,
Lyons failed to compare his walking ability to that of the general
population.

Lyons also failed to show that he had a record of a
substantially limiting disability under either statute. While his
employment application reflected an impairment, there was
nothing in the document to suggest that it was substantially
limiting. See Hilburn v. Murata Elec. N. Am., Inc., 181 F.3d
1220,1229 (1 lth Cir. 1999).

Nor was Lyons regarded by LPC as having a substantially
limiting impairment. LPC merely knew that Lyons had been
injured many years before, had some pain, and complained of
concrete floors. Just because "the employer is aware of an
employee's condition, even a serious condition, does not lead
to an inference that the employer regarded the employee as
substantially limited in a major life activity." See Heffernan v.
Provident Life & Accident Ins. Co., 45 F. Supp. 2d 1147, 1154
(D. Kan. 1999). There was no evidence in the record indicating
that LPC treated Lyons as though he was unable to perform
his duties as an electrician because of his shortened leg.
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Title I; Actual; Mitigating Measures; Pretext;
Vision

A Pennsylvania federal court ruled that although a former
employee established that, despite mitigating measures, he
was substantially limited in the major life activity of seeing, he
failed to show that his employer discriminated against him
because of his disability, in violation of the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA) Title I, 42 U.S.C. §§12111-12117.
McCutchen v. Sunoco, 2002 WL 1896586 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 16,
2002).

John McCutchen, a sales associate in a Sunoco convenience
store, is blind in his left eye and has severe keratoconus in his
right eye-a condition that causes swelling and a sight-
impairing scarring of the tissue. McCutchen sued Sunoco
under Title I for failing to promote him, failing to provide him
with a reasonable accommodation, and denying his workers'
compensation claim.

The district court granted Sunoco summary judgment.
McCutchen established that he was substantially limited in
the major life activity of seeing and, thus, was disabled under
the ADA. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2). See also Shaner v. Synthes,
204 F.3d 494, 500 (3d Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 471. The court
rejected Sunoco's argument that McCutchen could not be
considered disabled because he stated that his condition did
not interfere with his daily activities. "This argument fails to
take into consideration that a person who has suffered from a
visual impairment for his entire life would adjust his daily
activities so as to accommodate the impairment." For example,
McCutchen avoids reading printed materials and listens to
books and newspapers on tape so as not to strain his eyes,
hires a person to assist him with bills and paperwork, asks
others for help in reading labels in stores, and goes to a theater
that has a section for sight-impaired patrons. "The fact that
plaintiff can survive on his own does not by itself render him
ineligible for relief under the ADA." Although plaintiffs with
vision problems do not suffer from substantially limiting
impairments when they can perform normal daily activities
without difficulty, see Overturfv. Pen Ventilator, 929 F. Supp.
895, 897 (E.D. Pa. 1996), 20 MPDLR 709, McCutchen
demonstrated that his eye condition significantly restricts the
acuity and manner in which he can see, compared to the
condition and manner in which the average person in the
general population can see.

Nevertheless, McCutchen failed to show that Sunoco had
discriminated against him on the basis of his disability. To
establish aprimafacie case for failure to promote, the plaintiff
must show that he made "every reasonable attempt to convey
his interest in the job to the employer." See EEOC v. Metal
Serv. Co., 892 F.2d 341, 348 (3d Cir. 1990). Here, there was no
evidence that McCutchen had asked for a promotion. The
court rejected his contention that he had not expressed an
interest in a promotion because it would have been futile.

As for his failure-to-accommodate claim, disabled employees

have a duty under the ADA to inform their employer of their
need for accommodations, but McCutchen never requested
an accommodation. See 29 C.F.R. App. §1630.9 (2001).
McCutchen also failed to cite any authority for his position
that a denial of a workers' compensation claim constitutes an
adverse employment action under the ADA. Further,
McCutchen failed to show that Sunoco's proffered legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for its denial--that it could not
confirm that the injury was job-related--was a pretext for
discrimination. See Fuentes v. Perskie, 32 F.3d 759,764 (3d Cir.
1994).

Title I; Actual; Perceived; Temporary; CTS

An Illinois federal court held that a former employee with
carpal tunnel syndrome was not disabled under the Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., because
his temporary condition did not substantially limit any major
life activities, and his employer did not regard him as
substantially limited. Heimann v. Roadway Express, Inc., 2002
WL 31268195 (ND. IlL OcL 8, 2002).

In August 1998, Scot Heimann, a truck driver for Roadway
Express, injured his left hand in a work-related accident. After
surgery, he returned to work but could not drive due to a
temporary, one-hand restriction. In October, Heimann returned
to full duty as a driver. However, in November, his doctor
temporarily restricted him to driving trucks with power steering.
Due to his low seniority, power steering trucks were not
available to him. Although Roadway offered Heimann
temporary, modified non-truck driving work, Heimann chose
to continue driving manual steering trucks because he was
about to be transferred. After the transfer, and as a result of a
change in seniority, Heimann drove power steering trucks most
of the time. In mid-November, Heimann's doctor released him
with no medical restrictions.

In December, Heimann's seniority was reduced when a
number of drivers were laid off, and he drove manual steering
trucks. His doctor again restricted him to power steering trucks.
In February 1999, Roadway placed Heimann in the modified
duty, non-truck driving day job. Heimann refused to work
during the day because his wife was pregnant and needed
assistance. He filed an Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission charge, alleging that Roadway violated the ADA
Title 1, 42 U.S. C. §§ 12111-12117. The parties settled the case,
and Heimann returned to work driving a power steering truck.

In June 1999, Heimann injured his head in a work-related
accident and was out for a week. He did not return to work,
because he began treatment for reflex sympathetic dystrophy
(RSD) and had carpal tunnel and ulnar release surgery on his
left hand, as well as surgery on his right hand. In December
2000, Heimann asked to return to be assigned to trucks with
power steering. Roadway requested documentation for his
absence since June 1999 and his medical condition. He sued
Roadway under Title I.
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The district court granted summary judgment for Roadway,
holding that Heimann was not disabled within the meaning of
the ADA. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2). He was not substantially
limited in the major life activity of working--significantly
restricted in his ability to perform either a class or jobs or a
broad range of jobs when compared to the average person
having comparable training, skills, and abilities. Heimann's
vocational expert reported that Heimann was precluded from
three percent of skilledjobs and 26 percent of unskilled jobs in
a nine county northeastern Illinois region. Heimann admitted
that after his Roadway employment, he had applied for 200
jobs in a variety of industries, which he believed he was
physically qualified to perform. At his job as a dispatcher at a
grocery store, Heimann did not request any reasonable
accommodations, and his condition did not prevent him from
performing his duties. Heimann also installed
telecommunication equipment and did not request
accommodations. See Sinkler v. Midwest Prop. Mgmt. Ltd.
Pship, 209 F.3d 678 (7th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 427.

Nor was Heimann substantially limited in the major life
activity of performing manual tasks. He admitted that his
condition was exacerbated only when he drove manual steering
trucks. Therefore, his condition was intermittent. Also,
Heimann was capable of performing the manual tasks
associated with dispatcher and telephone equipment installer.
Although Heimann alleged that he changed the way he did
various activities and engaged in fewer activities for shorter
periods of time, "[d]oing activities, differently, however, does
not support a conclusion that Plaintiff is disabled." See
Albertson ', Inc., v. Kirkingburg, 527 U.S. 555 (1999), 23 MPDLR
510.

Furthermore, Heimann was not substantially limited in the
major life activity of lifting. See Contreras v. Suncast Corp.,
237 F.3d 756 (7th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 231. The lifting
restrictions imposed by Heimann's doctor in November 1998
were not permanent. A March 1999 evaluation indicated that
Heimann could lift, carry, push, and pull 50 pounds or more for
six to eight hours a day. Following his surgeries, Heimann was
only precluded from repetitive lifting. See Moore v. JB. Hunt
Transp., Inc., 221 F.3d 944 (7th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 783.

Nor was Heimann substantially limited in the major life
activities of concentrating and learning. The Seventh Circuit
considered whether concentrating was a major life activity
and "treated it as an activity that feeds into the major life
activities of learning and working." See Emerson v. Northern
States Power Co., 256 F.3d 506 (7th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 832.
The jobs that Heimann applied for after his work at Roadway
all required the ability to concentrate. Heimann had
successfully completed three computer courses, demonstrating
that he was not substantially limited in the major life activity
of learning.

Finally, Roadway did not regard Heimann as disabled. See
42 U.S.C. §12102(2)(C). There was no evidence believed or
perceived that he was substantially limited as a result of his

hand injury. Roadway had no reason to believe that Heimann's
condition was other than temporary.

Title I; Actual; Temporary; Qualified; Reasonable
Accommodation; Elbow Injury

An Illinois federal court held that a former service technician
who was able to work in ajob identical to his former job about
a year and a half after an elbow injury did not have a permanent
impairment and, thus, was not disabled under the Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. Also, at
the time his seniority was terminated, he was not qualified to
perform his job duties, and assigning his tasks to co-workers
would pose an undue hardship on his employer. Mertes v.
Westfield Ford, 220 E Supp. 2d 904 (N.D. Ill. 2002).

When James Mertes, a service technician for Westfield Ford,
sustained a work-related injury to his right elbow in December
1998, his doctor told him not to use his right arm or hand.
Mertes's doctor released him to light-duty work, effective July
21, 1999 (no lifting of over 10 pounds and no repetitive
activities). On July 5, Westfield's owner advised Mertes that
his seniority at Westfield was terminated, pursuant to the
collective bargaining agreement (CBA) with the union, which
stated that "... an absence in excess of six months for any
reason shall break the seniority of any employee ... ." In
October, Mertes' physician released him to full-duty work
without restrictions. In May 2000, Mertes sued Westfield for
violating Title 1, 42 U.S.C. § § 12111-12117.

The district court granted Westfield's motion for summary
judgment, finding that he was not disabled under the ADA.
Recently, the U.S. Supreme Court clarified that to constitute a
"disability," the impairment's "impact must also be permanent
or long-term." See Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 122
S. Ct. 681, 691 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73 (citing 29 C.F.R.
§1630.2(j)(ii)-(iii)). Because Mertes had been working at an
identical job with identical tasks since April 2000, the court
rejected his claim that his impairment was "long-term" or
"permanent."

Additionally, Mertes was not qualified to perform his
essential job functions with or without reasonable
accommodation. His doctor had released him to light-duty work
only. Mertes' requested accommodation-that other
technicians perform tasks that involved lifting more than 10
pounds and repetitive activities-was not reasonable, because
it would pose an "undue hardship" on Westfield's business
operations. See Amadio v. Ford Motor Co., 238 F.3d 919, 928
(7th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 222. Nearly every service technician
job involved repetitive motions and lifting over 10 pounds.
Moreover, Mertes had not shown that there was any other
vacant positions that he was qualified to perform. The ADA
does not require an employer to "manufacture a job that will
enable the disabled worker to work despite his disability." See
Hansen v. Henderson, 233 F.3d 521, 523 (7th Cir. 2000), 25
MPDLR 101.
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§501; Actual; Record; Perceived; Reasonable
Accommodation; Promotion; Retaliation; Back
Condition

A California federal court ruled that a former Immigration
and Naturalization Service (INS) employee with a temporary
back condition failed to show that he (1) was disabled under
the Rehabilitation Act §501, 29 U.S.C. §791 et seq., (2) had
requested a promotion as a reasonable accommodation for his
disability, and (3) was retaliated against for appealing his non-
selection to a GS-9 position to the Merit System Protection
Board. Wilborn v. Ashcroft, 222 E Supp. 2d 1192 (S.D. CaL
2002).

Harold Wilbom sued the Attorney General of the United
States, alleging he was not promoted because of his disability,
in violation of §501.

The district court granted the Attorney General's motion
for summary judgment, finding that Wilborn had failed to show
that his herniated disc, for which he received disability
compensation from the Department of Veterans Affairs,
constituted a disability within the meaning of the statute. See
Reynolds v. Brock, 815 F.2d 571,573-74 (9th Cir. 1987). Wilbom's
back injury did not substantially limit a major life activity. He
admitted in his deposition that his back injury limited him only
when his back "went out," which only lasted a few days and
happened "very few" times. Wilbon also stated that he is able
to sit and stand for prolonged periods, care for himself, work,
walk on flat surfaces and inclines, climb stairs, perform push
and pull motions, bend, crouch, and lift 25 pounds. Moreover,
when applying for the GS-9 position, Wilbon marked on the
applicant survey that he did not have a disability--a physical
or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major
life activities.

The court rejected Wilbom's claim that he had a record of a
substantially limiting impairment simply because he receives
veterans benefits. See Howell v. Sam s Club #8160/Wal-Mart,
959 F. Supp. 260,268 (E.D. Pa. 1997), 21 MPDLR 340. The Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission's implementation
regulations for the Americans with Disabilities Act provide
that "[t]he fact that an individual has a record of being a
disabled veteran ... does not guarantee that the individual
will satisfy the definition of'disability'... ." See 29 C.F.R. Pt.
1630, App. §1630.2(k). The medical evidence shows that
Wilborn suffered only a temporary incapacitation as a result
of his back injury.

The court also rejected Wilborn's claim that the INS regarded
him as having a substantially limiting disability. His current
and former supervisors stated in sworn declarations that they
had no knowledge prior to the filing of the lawsuit that Wilborn
had any disabilities.

Further, Wilborn alleged that the INS's failure to promote
him constituted a failure to accommodate his disability, but he
produced no evidence that he had ever requested this
accommodation, or that he needed the promotion in order to

perform his job.
Finally, Wilbom's retaliation claim failed. He did not produce

any evidence, other than his own conclusory statements, that
INS retaliated against him by failing to investigate his claim
and to notify him of his rights to contact an EEO counselor,
file an EEO complaint, and file a discrimination complaint in
federal court.

§504; Actual; Pretext; Hepatitis C

A Massachusetts federal court ruled that the City of
Pittsfield violated the Rehabilitation Act §504, 29 U.S.C. §794,
after it delayed a police officer's return to duty in part because
of his hepatitis C, which was a protected disability. Powell v.
City of Pittsfield, 221 F Supp. 2d 119 (D. Mass. 2002).

In October 1993, the City of Pittsfield ordered Walter Powell
to undergo a physical exam. The doctor found that Powell was
qualified for his police officer position, but noted his abnormal
liver function and need for further testing. In November 1993,
Powell was diagnosed with hepatitis C, and the city doctor
reported that Powell would be disqualified due to presence of
chronic hepatitis. The city police chief tried unsuccessfully to
persuade Powell to take disability retirement. However, further
medical exams, including a liver biopsy, indicated that Powell
was asymptomatic and otherwise healthy and vigorous. This
led the city doctor to conclude in July 1994 that "' [n]ow that
the exact nature and stage of Mr. Powell's chronic liver disease
is known, I feel that he does not have a condition which would
disqualify him from returning to the police force."'
Nevertheless, the city refused to reinstate Powell. He sought
disability retirement, but the city doctor refused to sign the
disability retirement papers because he was not Powell's
treating physician. None of Powell's doctors thought that
Powell had a disabling condition.

Powell sued the city under §504. The city reinstated Powell
to the police officerjob in September 1996. In an earlier decision,
the district court found that factual issues existed under §504
as to whether Powell was regarded as disabled, and whether
his condition posed a direct threat to the health or safety of
others. See 143 F. Supp. 2d 94 (D. Mass. 2001), 25 MPDLR 625.

Here, the district court concluded that the city violated §504,
because it delayed Powell's reinstatement in part because of
his disability. Powell was disabled within the meaning of §504.
See 29 U.S.C. §705(20). Powell did not allege that he was
substantially limited in the major life activity of working,
because he could work as a police officer without
accommodations. However, he claimed that his condition
substantially limited the major life activities of reproduction
and sexual activity. See Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Echazabal, 122
S. Ct. 2045 (2002), 26 MPDLR 588; Quick v. Tripp, Scott,
Conklin & Smith, PA., 43 F. Supp. 2d 1357 (S.D. Fla. 1999), 23
MPLDR 520; White v. Bank ofAm. Corp., 2000 WL 1664162
(N.D. Tex. Nov. 2, 2000), 25 MPLDR 97; Rollf v. Interim
Personnel, Inc., 1999 WL 1095768 (E.D. Mo. Nov. 4, 1999), 24
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MPDLR 75. If Powell engaged in sexual relations with his wife
for purposes of reproduction or marital intimacy, he ran a risk
of infecting her with the disease, which causes cirrhosis, liver
failure, cancer, and death.

The court rejected the city's argument that Powell had to
prove that his disability was the sole reason for the city's
delay. Section 794(a) indicates that a violation occurs when a
qualified individual is discriminated against "solely by reason
of his or her disability." Some controversy surrounds the use
of the term "solely." The Americans with Disabilities Act Title
I, 42 U.S.C. § § 12111-12117, does not apply the sole causation
test, and the 1992 amendments to the Rehabilitation Act
amended §504 to provide: "The standards used to determine
whether this section has been violated in a complaint alleging
employment discrimination under this section shall be the
standards applied under title I of the Americans with
Disabilities Act... ." See 29 U.S.C. §794(d). "Thus, Congress
voiced its disapproval of a literal reliance on the word 'solely'
in the Rehabilitation Act, and approved of court decisions
rejecting what it termed the 'absurd' interpretation of the
Rehabilitation Act." See Stewart v. United States, 2000 WL
1705657 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 10, 2000), 25 MPDLR 82; but see
Soledad v. United States Dep "t of Treasury, 116 F. Supp. 2d
790 (W.D. Tex. 2000), 25 MPDLR 86. Given these developments,
the court here concluded that Powell must show, by a
preponderance of the evidence, that his reinstatement was
delayed "in whole or in part because of [his] disability. .. ."
Here, there was "a mountain of evidence at trial that Powell's
hepatitis C caused the delay in his return to work, at least in
part."

State Law; Actual; Retaliation; Digestive
Condition

The Maine supreme court held that although a former
employee showed that she was substantially limited in the
major life activities of digestion and the elimination of waste
and, thus, was disabled under the Maine Human Rights Act
(MHRA), 5 Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. §4551 et seq., she failed to
show that her employer terminated her probationary period in
retaliation for her requests for reasonable accommodations.
Doyle v. Maine Dep't of Human Servs., 2002 WL 1978907
(Me. Sup. C. July 10, 2002).

Cathy Doyle worked for the state as a clerk typist position.
In November 1998, she was promoted to a Clerk III position.
At the time she was promoted, she requested her work hours
be changed to accommodate her medical condition, but did
not specify that condition. During the probationary period,
Doyle was reprimanded on several occasions for misusing the
phone, not being available to answer the phones during the
workday, and her poor attitude and time management skills.

At a December 18 meeting held to discuss her poor job
performance, Doyle told her supervisors that she had had her
large intestine and rectum removed, uses a J-pouch to eliminate

waste, and must use the bathroom between 10 to 25 times in a
24-hour period. She was told that she could use the bathroom
whenever necessary, and that her probation would be in
jeopardy if her performance did not improve. At a second
performance meeting, the state allowed her to get up and move
about during the workday when necessary to avoid blockages.
Shortly after the meeting, Doyle was heard giving out incorrect
information and making personal calls during work time. On
January 11, Doyle's supervisors terminated Doyle's probation
and returned her to her prior position as a clerk typist. Doyle
sued the state under the MHRA, alleging that her probation
had been terminated in retaliation for her requests for
reasonable accommodation.

The district court granted the state's motion for summary
judgment. First, Doyle was disabled under the MHRA because
her condition substantially limited her ability to control her
digestion and eliminate waste. Doyle's condition is permanent,
severe, and has a long-term impact on her life. She must use
the restroom about 25 times in a 24-hour period, including two
separate one-hour visits to clean the J-pouch. Moreover, Doyle
must get up and move around often in order to avoid blockages.
In addition, every few months, she develops "pouchitis,"
which causes infection and burning. Occasionally, she suffers
blockages that cause pain and vomiting and may require
hospitalization.

Nevertheless, Doyle's retaliation claim failed. The state
provided legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for its decision
to terminate Doyle's probationary period--her poor attitude,
improper use of the telephone, and failure to follow guidelines
and instructions. Several courts have held that the
circumstance of timing may be sufficient to indicate a causal
connection in retaliation cases. See Ruffino v. State Street
Bank & Trust Co., 908 F. Supp. 1019, 1046 (D. Mass. 1995).
Here, however, Doyle's supervisors were reviewing her poor
job performance well before she sought accommodations.

§501; Actual; Adverse Employment Action

An Indiana federal court found that a U.S. Postal Service
(USPS) letter carrier with restrictions in walking, standing, and
lifting raised factual questions as to whether she had a
protected disability under the Rehabilitation Act §501,29 U.S.C.
§791 et seq., and whether her employer's conduct constituted
an adverse employment action. Ballard v. Potter, 2002 WL
31045359 (S.D. Ind. Sept. 11, 2002).

In July 1997, Teresa Ballard developed shin splints and foot
blisters from walking her mail route. In August, she asked the
post office manager and her supervisor for permission to go
home early due to severe pain, but her request was denied.
She took leave from August through November 1997. She
returned to work, but was restricted from standing and walking
more than four hours a day and lifting or carring more than 30
pounds. Ballard sued USPS under §501.

The district court denied USPS's motion for summary
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judgment. First, a reasonable jury could find that Ballard was
substantially limited in the major life activities of standing and
walking, or that USPS regarded her as such. See, e.g., Moore v.
J.B. Hunt Transp., Inc., 221 F.3d 944, 951 (7th Cir. 2000); 24
MPDLR 783, Gabriel v. City of Chicago, 9 F. Supp. 2d 974,982
(N.D. 111. 1998), 22 MPDLR 601. Ballard could not walk or stand
for more than a total of four hours a day. Further, two of Ballard's
male supervisors, both of whom were involved in decisions
about Ballard's treatment, commented that female letter carriers
on limited duty were "lazy," "stupid," and "pretty much
worthless." Their comments could support an inference that
discriminatory animus motivated their treatment of Ballard as
a female letter carrier with medical restrictions. Moreover, their
treatment of Ballard was inconsistent both with the terms of
the collective bargaining agreement, and with the way in which
other employees were treated. Together, this created a "mosaic
of circumstantial evidence of discrimination," which is a viable
means of proving discrimination. See Troupe v. May Dep 't
Stores, Co., 20 F.3d 734, 737 (7th Cir. 1994).

A reasonable jury could also find that USPS's actions
constituted adverse employment action, even if economic
damages from those actions were likely modest. An adverse
employment action is "more disruptive than a mere
inconvenience or an alteration ofjob responsibilities... [and]
might be indicated by a termination of employment, a demotion
evidenced by a decrease in wage or salary, a less distinguished
title, a material loss of benefits, significantly diminished material
responsibilities, or other indices that might be unique to a
particular situation." See Traylor v. Brown, 295 F.3d 783, 788
(7th Cir. 2002). Ballard presented evidence that USPS changed
her job duties and schedule, and, contrary to the union
contract, assigned Ballard low-level job duties outside of the
letter-carrier craft, resulting in her spending much of her time
sitting "in a chair with nothing to do." While an adverse
employment action normally results in tangible economic
consequences (e.g., termination, demotion, or reduction of
salary and retirement benefits), such tangible consequences
are not required. Moreover, the USPS prevented Ballard from
working any overtime.

State Law; Actual; Sleep Disorders

The Ninth Circuit reversed summary judgment for an
employer, finding that a genuine issue of material fact existed
as to whether a former employee's sleep disorders substantially
limited the major life activity of sleeping and, thus, constituted
a disability under the Alaska Human Rights Act, Alaska Stat.
§ 18.80.220. Hewitt v. Union Oil of CaL, 2002 WL 1890283
(9th Cir. Aug. 16, 2002).

State Law; Actual; Lung Cancer

A Minnesota federal court ruled that a former employee
was not disabled under the Minnesota Human Rights Act

(MHRA), Minn. Stat. §363.01 et seq., because she did not
show that her lung cancer substantially limited her ability to
work. Liljedahl v. Ryder Student Transp. Servs. Inc., 2002
WL 31185898 (D. Minn. Sept 30, 2002).

In December of 1996, Elaine Liljedahl, a contract manager
for Ryder Student Transportation Services, had surgery to
remove part of her cancerous lung. She returned to work part-
time on March 3, 1997. Ryder assigned another employee to
assist her. Later, Ryder received complaints about Liljedahl's
work. Her annual report concluded that she had not performed
up to expectations in many areas. Liljedahl was placed on 90-
day probation. She wrote a memo to her employer, responding
to her evaluation, which was viewed as argumentative and
refusing to abide by the terms of her probation. Ryder terminated
Liljedahl. Since then, Liljedahl has worked at several full-time
jobs without requesting accommodations. Liljedahl sued Ryder
under the MHRA.

The district court granted summary judgment for Ryder,
finding that she was not disabled under the MHRA, because
she failed to show that her cancer substantially limited her
ability to perform the major life activity of working. See Taylor
v. Nimock' Oil Co., 214 F.3d 957,961 (8th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR
779. Merely because a person has a serious illness does not
establish an MHRA disability. See Demming v. Housing &
Redev. Auth. of Duluth, 66 F.3d 950, 955 (8th Cir. 1995), 19
MPDLR 740. Liljedahl's doctor testified that she made no
opinion on whether Liljedahl could return to work full-time,
but that Liljedahl had requested the part-time restriction. Her
surgeon also testified that he felt that Liljedahl had not needed
a restriction upon returning to work.

The court rejected Liljedahl's claim that she was also
disabled by respiratory trouble caused by the cancer surgery.
Liljedahl's doctor testified that her breathing improved with
use of an inhaler. To the extent that an impairment is corrected
by medication or other measures, it is not an impairment that
substantially limits a major life activity. See Sutton v. United
AirLines, Inc., 119 S. Ct. 2139 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510. Moreover,
although Liljedahl had emphysema, the doctor could not tell
whether her breathing was worse due to the cancer surgery.
Liljedahl had worked several full-time jobs after leaving Ryder,
and that she had not requested any accommodation for a
breathing difficulty. Also, she could not show that Ryder knew
about the disability. Under Minnesota law, an employer is only
required to reasonably accommodate known physical and
mental limitations. See Cravens v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield
ofKansas City, 214 F.3d 1011, 1021 (8th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR
628; Greer v. Emerson Elec. Co., 185 F.3d 917, 922 (8th Cir.
1999), 23 MPDLR 679; Minn. Stat. §363.03 subd. 1(6).

Title I; Actual; Qualified; Absenteeism; Breast
Cancer; Breathing

A North Carolina federal court found that a former employer
whose breast cancer was in remission and who had breathing
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problems was not disabled under the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq., and even
with reasonable accommodation, she could not perform her
job due to excessive absenteeism. Farrish v. Carolina
Commercial Heat Treating, Inc., 2002 WL 31163723
(M.D.N.C. Sept 19, 2002).

Wanda Farrish, an inspector for Carolina Commercial Heat
Treating (CCHT), was diagnosed with breast cancer in October
1999 and took leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act
(FMLA), 29 U.S.C. §2601 et seq. Although the leave was
scheduled from November 1-December 27, 1999, Farrish
submitted a medical note stating that it was "medically
necessary" for her to remain out of work through January
2000 due to complications with radiation treatment. On January
11, 2000, CCHT advised Farrish that her FMLA leave would
expire on January 22, that the company would not extend the
leave, and that Farrish could take personal leave, which she
did.

After Farrish returned to work on February 1, 2000, she
experienced breathing problems due to the strong fumes in
the heat-treating process. On February 3, Farrish's doctor
reported that it was medically necessary for her to be out of
work for one week, and CCHT granted the request. Farrish did
not return to work until February 21. In April, Farrish missed
two days of work to care for her mother, and CCHT granted
her an additional seven days leave after her mother's death.

In May, Farrish left work early without notice. She later
submitted a medical excuse that she was suicidal and needed
to be on leave from June 1-June 16, 2000. Pursuant to CCHT's
"No-Fault Attendance Policy," which provides for termination
after nine occurrences of absence, CCHT terminated Farrish,
who sued under Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§12111-12117.

The district court granted summary judgment for CCHT.
Farrish was not disabled under of the ADA. See 42 U.S.C.
§ 12102(2)(A). Her breast cancer was in remission at the time of
her dismissal, and she failed to show that her breathing
problems substantially limited a major life activity. Although
Farrish was not able to work at CCHT, she was not precluded
from working in a range or broad class of jobs. Further, there
was no evidence that CCHT regarded Farrish as disabled. See
42 U.S.C. § 12102(B). She was released for unrestricted work,
and each time she returned she performed her normal job duties.

In addition, Farrish was not a qualified individual under the
ADA. She could not meet the job's attendance requirements.
Farrish missed an extensive amount of work. At-home work
was not a reasonable accommodation, for she was the only
inspector on duty during her shifts, and her position was
crucial. "The law does not require employers to provide the
accommodation that the employee be allowed to work only
when her illness permits." See Walders v. Garrett, 765 F. Supp.
303 (E.D. Va. 1991), 15 MPDLR 579. Farrish admitted that there
were no other accommodations that CCHT could have provided
to enable her to perform her job. CCHT had provided Farrish
with more leave than was required under the FMLA.

Title I; Actual; Perceived; MS

A Louisiana federal court ruled that a former employee
whose multiple sclerosis (MS) only moderately affected her
ability to walk and did not affect her ability to work was not
disabled under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42
U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., nor regarded as such by her employer.
Wynn v. Whitney Holding Corp., 220 F Supp. 2d 582 (W.D.
La. 2002).

Angella Wynn, a bank teller, was hospitalized with symptoms
of MS in February 2000. In March, she was released to work
with no restrictions. However, Wynn was terminated due to
an unexplained cash shortage in her teller drawer. Since January
2000, the bank had found Wynn short of cash three times, and
had warned her that shortages were grounds for termination.
Wynn sued the bank for violation of the ADA Title 1, 42 U.S.C.
§§12111-12117.

The district court granted summary judgment for the bank,
finding that Wynn was not disabled under the ADA. Her MS
only moderately, not substantially, limited her ability to walk.
See 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(i). See also Talk v. Delta Airlines, Inc.,
165 F.3d 1021,1025 (5th Cir. 1999), 23 MPDLR 196 (moving at a
significantly slower pace does not constitute a substantial
impairment). Additionally, with regard to the major life activity
of working, Wynn was able to perform her job after her initial
hospitalization, and she admitted that her impairment had not
affected her ability to perform a wide range of jobs since her
termination. In fact, after her termination, Wynn was hired as a
teacher's aid. Further, the bank supervisor's awareness of
Wynn's MS did not show that it regarded her impairment as
substantially limiting. See 29 C.F.R.§ 1630.2(k).

State Law; Actual; Perceived; MS

A Michigan appeals court affirmed summary judgment for
the employer, finding that a former employee with multiple
sclerosis (MS) was not disabled under the Persons with
Disabilities Civil Rights Act, Mich. Comp. Laws §37.1101 et
seq. She failed to show that she was substantially limited in
working, or any other major life activity. In addition, the fact
that the employer acknowledged plaintiff's disease did not
prove that it regarded her as unable to perform a broad range
or class ofjobs, or as substantially limited in any other major
life activity. Steele v. Micoa Mgmt. Co., 2002 WL 31296650
(Mich. Ct App. Oct 11, 2002).

Title I; Actual; Reasonable Accommodation;
Rotating Shifts; Diabetes

A Kansas federal court held that a former employee with
diabetes was not substantially limited in the major life activity
of working and, thus, was not disabled under the Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. Also, his
employer did not deny him a reasonable accommodation by
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requiring him to work rotating shifts. Munoz v. Western Res.,
Inc., 2002 WL 3115522 (D. Kan. Sept. 26, 2002).

In January 2000, a doctor sent a letter to Western Resources
stating that its employee, Thomas Munoz, needed to take his
medication and meals on whatever shift he was assigned.
Western assigned Munoz the same schedule as other
employees, which included rotating day, evening, and night
shifts. Munoz felt that the rotating shifts endangered his
health, and took voluntary early retirement. He then sued under
Title I, 42 U.S.C. §§12111-12117, alleging that the company
failed to accommodate his condition.

The district court granted Western summary judgment.
Munoz was not disabled under the ADA. See 42 U.S.C.
§12102(2); see also Poindexter v. Atchison, Topeka & Santa
Fe Ry., Co., 168 F.3d 1228 (10th Cir. 1999), 23 MPDLR 346. He
failed to show that he was substantially impaired in the major
life activity of working. See Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v.
Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. Munoz asserted
that his diabetes prevented him from working the rotating shift
schedule. However, there was no evidence that his diabetes
substantially limited his ability to work a class or broad range
of jobs. Munoz's doctor reported that Munoz's diabetes was
under control, and that he should take medication and plan
his meals in accordance with his work schedule. The doctor
did not indicate that Munoz's diabetes limited any major life
activities.

Also, there was no evidence that Western failed to
reasonably accommodate his disability. See 42 U.S.C.
§ 12112(b)(5)(A). Western reasonably interpreted the doctor's
report to indicate that Munoz could work a rotating shift
schedule as long as he was allowed to take his medication and
meals regularly. Although Munoz claimed that his doctor did
not intend him to work a rotating shift, he did not contact his
doctor about clearing up any misunderstanding about the
doctor's recommendations.

Title I; Actual; Diabetes

The Seventh Circuit affirmed summary judgment for the
employer, finding that a former employee with diabetes was
not disabled within the meaning of the Americans with
Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §12101 etseq., because she was not
substantially limited in the major life activities of working or
caring for herself. She provided no evidence that she was
precluded from a broad class ofjobs. See Sutton v. UnitedAir
Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471,482-83 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510. To the
contrary, she performed her former job successfully for many
years, and testified that she felt that she was qualified to
perform approximately 24 other jobs. Further, she was able to
attend to all aspects of not only her own care, but also that of
her family. See Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534
U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. Her episodes of dizziness,
lightheadedness, and blackouts only temporarily limited her
ability to care for herself. Nordwall v. Sears Roebuck & Co.,

2002 WL 31027956 (7th Cir. Sept 6, 2002).

Title I; Actual; Perceived; Hostile Work
Environment; Constructive Discharge; Diabetes

An Alabama federal court granted the employer judgment
as a matter of law as to a former employee's hostile work
environment and constructive discharge claims under the
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Title 1, 42 U.S.C.
§§ 12111-12117, finding that the employee's diabetes was not
a protected disability. Also, the employee failed to show that
the harassment was sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter
his employment conditions, or that his working conditions
were so intolerable that a reasonable person would have been
compelled to resign. Stedman v. Bizmart, 219 F Supp. 2d
1212 (N.D. Ala. 2002).

In March 2000, Bizmart hired James Stedman for an industrial
engineering position. Stedman informed his supervisor that
he was a liver transplant recipient and had diabetes, but did
not require any job accommodations. In September, Stedman's
work volume became too great and he was treated for
depression and job stress. In October, Stedman received a
"below expectations" performance evaluation. In December,
he offered to step down from his industrial engineer job and
take a clerk position at a decrease in pay from $50,000 to $18,000.
Stedman's supervisor told him that he would remain in his
industrial engineer job until a replacement could be found. In
January 2001, Stedman quit. In July, he sued Bizmart under
Title I.

The district court entered judgment as a matter of law for
Bizmart on both claims. Stedman was not disabled under the
ADA. See 42 U.S.C. §12102(2). Stedman did not produce
evidence that his diabetes impeded his activities outside of
the workplace in any way-that he could not perform the type
of manual tasks of central importance to daily life. See also
Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002),
26 MPDLR 73. He admitted that he cared for his personal needs,
including grooming, bathing, and dressing. Stedman's diabetes
also did not preclude him from a class or broad range ofjobs,
so he was not substantially impaired in the major life activity
of working. See Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471
(1999), 23 MPDLR 510. Stedman was only precluded from
performing an industrial engineer job, and admitted that he
could perform a clerk position. The court rejected Stedman's
argument that Bizmart regarded him as disabled. See Cash v.
Smith, 231 F.3d 1301 (1 1th Cir. 2000), 25 MPDLR 67. Stedman
admitted that his supervisor never made reference to the fact
that Stedman had diabetes or was a liver transplant recipient.
Stedman's constructive discharge claim failed for the same
reason.

Also, Stedman failed to produce evidence that any
harassment he faced was severe or pervasive, see Gupta v.
Florida Bd. ofRegents, 212 F.3d 571 (11 th Cir. 2000), or that a
reasonable person would perceive the environment to be
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hostile and abusive, see Watkins v. Bowden, 105 F.3d 1344
(11th Cir. 1997). Stedman alleged that his supervisor harassed
him by asking him a question in front of a group of employees
and showing disgust if he did not know the answer. He also
alleged that his supervisor timed him on his ability to finish
assignments. However, there was no evidence suggesting that
this conduct, although upsetting to Stedman, related in any
way to his claimed disability, so as to fall within the category
of disability-harassment. Further, the supervisor's comment
that he was not going to be responsible for affecting
somebody's health-standing alone or considered along with
all other evidence-did not establish that the harassing
conduct was sufficiently severe or persuasive to alter the terms
or conditions of Stedman's employment. As for the
constructive discharge claim, Stedman failed to show that his
working conditions were so intolerable that a reasonable
person in his position would have been compelled to resign.
See Doe v. DeKalb County Sch. Dist., 145 F.3d 1441, 1450
(11th Cir. 1998), 22 MPDLR 615. He offered no objective
evidence for his subjective belief.

Title I; Actual; Pretext; Retaliation; Reasonable
Accommodation; Harassment; Hostile Work
Environment; CFS

A New York federal court ruled that a former employee who
failed to show that his chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS)
substantially limited a major life activity was not disabled under
the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101
et seq. Also, the employer's proffered reason for terminating
him-poor job performance-was not a pretext for
discrimination. Further, the employer did not retaliate against
him for asserting his ADA rights, deny him reasonable
accommodations, harass him because of his disability, or create
a hostile work environment. Cooney v. Consolidated Edison,
220 E Supp. 2d 241 (S.D.N. Y 2002).

Joseph Cooney, a mechanic for Consolidated Edison (Con
Ed), was diagnosed with Epstein Barr virus, which causes
CFS. In March 1999, he was suspended for harassing co-
workers and transferred. He filed an Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (EEOC) charge, claiming that he was
disciplined because he was disabled. The EEOC dismissed
the charge, and Cooney did not commence a federal lawsuit.
In October, Cooney was suspended for five days for "sleeping
on the job." That same month, Con Ed investigated Cooney
for incidents of vandalism. Cooney filed another EEOC charge,
alleging that Con Ed investigated him in retaliation for his
earlier EEOC charge, failed to accommodate him, and
discriminated against him by suspending him and denying
him a job transfer back to his old location. In January 2000,
Cooney was suspended for poor work performance, and in
February, he was terminated for misuse of equipment. Cooney
sued Con Ed under Title I, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117.

The district court granted summary judgment for Con Ed,

holding that Cooney was not disabled under the ADA. See 42
U.S.C. §12102(A); see also Bragdon v. Abbott, 524 U.S. 624
(1998), 22 MPDLR 449; Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v.
Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. He failed to show
that his CFS substantially limited him from engaging in major
life activities like walking, exerting himself, or working. See
Weixel v. Board ofEduc., 287 F.3d 138 (2d Cir. 2002), 26 MPDLR
451. Cooney admitted that he was capable of engaging in work
at Con Ed, which involved a high amount of physical exertion.

Assuming that Cooney was disabled under the ADA, Con
Ed's proffered reason for disciplining him-poor
performance-was legitimate and nondiscriminatory. Although
Con Ed knew about Cooney's condition since 1994,
disciplinary action was taken each time shortly after Cooney's
performance errors. Moreover, Cooney admitted that the
progressive discipline against him was consistent with Con
Ed policies toward other non-disabled employees with similar
histories of discipline.

The court rejected Cooney's retaliation claim, for he
provided no direct evidence of retaliatory animus on the part
of Con Ed, which provided a legitimate reason for each of the
suspensions and the termination. The EEOC charges did not
play a substantial role in the adverse employment actions,
because these actions occurred shortly after Cooney's poor
performance on the job, and some occurred before he filed the
charges.

The court also rejected Cooney's failure-to-accommodate
claim. It was unclear whether Cooney had formally requested
a transfer back to his old location. Cooney failed to show that
there was a vacant position there for which he was qualified.
Also, the job duties at both locations were the same, and
Cooney produced no evidence indicating why the transfer
would have accommodated his CFS.

Finally, the court rejected Cooney's harassment and hostile
work environment claims under the ADA. He failed to show
that he was a victim of harassment because of his disability.
See DiSanto v. McGraw-Hill, Inc., 1998 WL 474136 (S.D.N.Y.
Aug. 11, 1998), 22 MPDLR 612. He also failed to show that the
workplace created an abusive environment for him. Evidence
that a Con Ed supervisor harassed other employees was not
relevant, because the alleged harassment was not based on
disability.

State Law; Actual; Perceived; LD; FMLA;
Termination

A Kentucky federal court found that a former employee with
a learning disability was not disabled under the Kentucky
Civil Rights Act (KCRA), Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. §344.010 etseq.,
because she was neither substantially limited in the major life
activities of working or learning, nor regarded as such. Also,
she was not improperly terminated under the Family and
Medical Leave Act (FMLA), 29 U.S.C. §2601 etseq., because
she failed to return to work after her 12 weeks of leave had
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expired. Summers v. Middleton & Reutlinger PS. C., 214 E
Supp. 2d 751 (W.D. Ky. 2002).

Karen Summers, a legal secretary for the law firm of
Middleton & Reutlinger, frequently worked overtime and
performed paralegal duties, causing her a great deal of stress.
On October 31, 1996, she presented the firm with a doctor's
note, stating that she could not work indefinitely. On December
2, Summers informed the firm that she was ready to return to
work. The firm offered her a position similar to her former one,
but she would no longer work for Jim Higgins-the source of
her stress in the eyes of the firm. Summers insisted that she
wanted the option of working for Jim Higgins. On January 15,
1997, the informed her by letter that it viewed her refusal of its
offer as a voluntary, employment termination. Also, the firm
presumed that Summers had taken FMLA leave, and had failed
to return after the 12-week limit expired. Summers sued the
firm, alleging violations of the KCRA and the FMLA.

The district court granted the firm summary judgment. First,
Summers was not disabled under the KCRA. She claimed that
her learning disability substantially limited her in the major life
activity of working-significantly restrict her ability to perform
either a class of jobs or a broad range of jobs as compared to
the average person having comparable training, skills, and
abilities. See 29 C.F.R. § 1630.20)(3)(i). However, there was no
evidence that she had any difficulty in obtaining or performing
her job. Further, it is not clear that her alleged disability
interfered with her ability to perform herjob, as she received a
satisfactory performance evaluation and a raise in salary shortly
before taking leave. The only limitations that she asserted
were the inabilities to work overtime and to perform paralegal
work. See Boerst v. General Mills Operations, Inc., 25 Fed.
Appx. 403,407 (6th Cir. 2002), 26 MPDLR 275.

Summers also claimed that she was substantially limited in
the major life activity of learning due to her alleged difficulty
with learning the computer system. However, such difficulty
does not demonstrate a substantial limitation in the major life
activity of learning. See Leisen v. City of Shelbyville, 153 F.3d
805,808 (7th Cir. 1998), 22 MPDLR 750. Summers' performance
evaluation showed that her computer skills had improved
significantly, and she had successfully completed computer
training for her job. Further, Summers was not regarded as
having a substantially limiting impairment simply because her
employer offered her short-term paid medical leave and another
position as a reasonable accommodation. See Keith v. Ashland,
Inc., 205 F.3d 1340 (6th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 427.

Finally, Summers was not improperly terminated for
exceeding the FMLA's 12-week leave entitlement because only
that portion of the leave after notification by the employer
may be designated as FMLA leave and counted against the 12
weeks. In Ragsdale v. Wolverine World Wide, Inc. 122 S. Ct.
1155 (2002), 26 MPDLR 282, the U.S. Supreme Court invalidated
29 C.F.R. §825.700(a), which provides that "if an employee
takes paid or unpaid leave and the employer does not designate
the leave as FMLA leave, the leave taken does not count

against the 12-week entitlement."

Title I; Actual; Qualified; Reasonable
Accommodation; Retaliation; Asthma

An Illinois federal court held that a former city laborer with
asthma failed to show that she was substantially limited in
breathing and walking and, thus, was not disabled under the
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et
seq. Also, she could not perform essential lifting duties, her
employer made reasonable efforts to accommodate her, and
her employer discharged her due to absenteeism, not her
disability. Ratliff v. City of Chicago, 2002 WL 2022188 (N.D.
IlL Aug. 29, 2002).

Marquetta Ratliff, a laborer for the Department of Streets
and Sanitation with the City of Chicago, was assigned garbage
truck duty. In June 1998, she submitted a form, entitled
"Request for Reasonable Accommodation." However, the city
returned the form because Ratliff wrote "N/A" in response to
question asking her to state her disability, and "N/A" in
response to the question as to how her disability affected her
job performance. Ratliff did not submit another form, but
reportedly asked her supervisor for a job transfer. In January
1999, Ratliff submitted a "Request for Leave of Absence,"
seeking three months' leave for "personal business," which
the city approved. Ratliff subsequently requested to return to
work early. Her doctor submitted a note stating that she could
return to work on March 29, but advised that she not lift more
than 15 pounds due to her asthma. In response, Ratliff's
supervisor informed her that because the laborer position
required that she be able to lift up to 50 pounds and there was
no light duty available, Ratliff needed either to report to work
or apply for another leave of absence until she was able to
fulfill her job duties. Ratliff failed to do either and was fired.
Ratliff sued the city for violating Title I, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-
12117.

The district court granted the city's motion for summary
judgment, holding that Ratliff was not disabled under the ADA,
because her asthma was not so severe that it substantially
limited her major life activities of breathing or walking. See 42
U.S.C. § 12102(2)(A); see also Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v.
Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. Ratliff attributed
her shortness of breath after taking 20 steps or lifting heavy
objects to her asthma, but she also was overweight, had a
family history of diabetes and hypertension, and possible
heart problems. Therefore, she could not establish a causal
connection between her breathing difficulties and her asthma.
Although Ratliffargued that her asthma attacks were so severe
that they could not be controlled by medication, she was
unable to specifically recall one instance during the time she
worked for the city when that situation occurred. Likewise,
Ratliff did not establish that her asthma substantially limited
her ability to walk. Her doctor imposed a lifting restriction, but
mentioned nothing about her ability to walk. She performed
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her duties as a laborer, particularly standing and walking for
long periods of time. Her asthma only moderately restricted
her ability to walk.

Even if Ratliff were disabled, she was not qualified to perform
an essential job function-ift more than 15 pounds. Further,
the city did not fail to reasonably accommodate Ratliff. See 42
U.S.C. § 12111(9)(B). Ratliff contended that the city failed to
engage in the interactive process with her when she requested
a reasonable accommodation. "However, the mere fact that an
employer fails to engage in such a process does not constitute
aper se violation of the ADA." See Rehling v. City of Chicago,
207 F.3d 1009 (7th Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 474. The ADA imposes
liability only if the city's failure to engage in the interactive
process resulted in a failure to identify an appropriate
accommodation for Ratliff. Although Ratliff submitted in June
1998 a written request for reasonable accommodation, she listed
"N/A" in response to questions about her disability. The ADA
requires reasonable accommodations for the known physical
or mental limitations of an employee. See 42 U.S.C.
§ 12115(b)(5)(A). Ratliff's responses were inadequate to inform
the city of the nature of her disability, and the city had no duty
to accommodate her in June 1998. Although between
November 1998 and January 1999 Ratliffrequested ajob transfer
because of her asthma, she failed to submit the necessary
medical documentation to the city. Moreover, the city and
Ratliff engaged in an interactive process when Ratliff's
supervisor advised her to go to the City Department of
Personnel and advised her of the steps she needed to take in
order to avoid being terminated.

Finally, the court rejected Ratliff's claim that the city
terminated her because she had requested an accommodation
for her disability. The city articulated a legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for firing Ratliff-she was absent
five consecutive days and had not called her supervisor.

Title I; Actual; Record; Perceived; Strenuous
Tasks

A Pennsylvania federal court held that a former employee
who was unable to engage in heavy lifting, pushing, pulling,
or other similar strenuous tasks was not disabled under the
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et
seq. Nerosa v. Storecast Merch. Corp., 2002 WL 1998181
(E.D. Pa. Aug. 28, 2002).

In September 2000, Kathleen Nerosa, a retail manager for
Storecast Merchandising Corporation, began taking
medication to treat her shortness of breath, a heart murmur,
sinus tachycardia, rapid heartbeat, chest pain, and non-insulin
dependent diabetes. Her doctor restricted her from heavy or
strenuous physical activity. Nerosa could perform all of her
essential job duties, which did not include strenuous tasks,
and she had subordinate employees push or pull heavy boxes
when necessary. In January 2001, Storecast fired Nerosa due
to poorjob performance. Nerosa sued under Title I, 42 U.S.C.

§§12111-12117.
The district court granted Storecast's motion to dismiss,

holding that Nerosa was not disabled under the ADA. See 42
U.S.C. §12102(2); see also Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v.
Williams, 122 S. Ct. 681 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. Her inability to
engage in heavy lifting, pulling, or pushing or similar strenuous
physical tasks did not render Nerosa disabled. Although some
capacity for lifting is of central importance to most people's
daily lives, a limitation on the ability to lift does not
substantially limit an individual from performing activities of
central importance to most people's daily lives. See Mellon v.
Federal Express Corp., 239 F.3d 954 (8th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR
588.

She also did not have a record of impairment. See 42 U.S.C.
§ 12102(2)(B); see also Olson v. General Elec. Astrospace, 101
F.3d 947 (3d Cir. 1996), 21 MPDLR 67. Nerosa failed to show
that her condition substantially limited a major life activity at
the time of her termination or in the past.

The court also rejected Nerosa's argument that Storecast
regarded her as disabled. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(C); see also
Sutton v. UnitedAirLines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999), 23 MPDLR
510. Nerosa alleged that Storecast was under the misperception
that she was unable to perform the essential functions of her
particularjob. However, she did not allege facts that Storecast
regarded her as incapable of performing a class or broad range
of jobs or as otherwise substantially limited in a major life
activity. See Mondzelewski v. Pathmark Stores, Inc., 162 F.3d
778 (3d Cir. 1999), 23 MPDLR 196.

Title I; Actual; Perceived; Qualified; CTS

A New York federal court ruled that a dental assistant whose
carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) prevented her from working
with patients with severe disabilities was not substantially
limited in the major life activity of working nor regarded as
such and, thus, was not disabled under the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 etseq. Also, she was
not qualified to perform an essential job function---restraining
these children in a harness, when necessary-and eliminating
this duty was not reasonable. Serrano v. Terence Cardinal
Cooke Health Care Ctr., 2002 WL 31027183 (E.D.N. Y Sept.
9, 2002).

Rosalina Serrano worked as a dental assistant in Terence
Cardinal Cooke Health Care Center's (TCC) dentistry
department for approximately 18 years. About 25 percent of
her patients had severe disabilities, and many had to be placed
in a restraining harness. In June 1998, Serrano injured her wrist,
and TCC temporarily reassigned her duties for two weeks.
TCC then questioned Serrano as to how long she would be
limited in her ability to perform. Serrano provided a doctor's
note stating that she was restricted to light duty for an
additional 10 days, at which time her condition would be
reevaluated. TCC then informed Serrano to stop coming to
work and to seek disability and/or workers' compensation
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benefits.
Serrano applied for and received workers' compensation

benefits, and never contacted TCC to inform them that she
was able to resume her duties. She subsequently brought suit
against TCC under Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117, alleging
that it failed to provide her with light duty as a reasonable
accommodation. In June 2000, TCC advised Serrano that her
employment would be terminated unless she returned to work
with a physician's certificate stating that she was able to work.
When she failed to do so, she was terminated.

The district court granted TCC's motion summary judgment,
finding that Serrano was not disabled under the ADA. See
Bragdon v. Abbott, 524 U.S. 624,631 (1998), 22 MPDLR 449.
She failed to show that, due to her CTS, she was substantially
limited in the major life activity of working. Although the U.S.
Supreme Court in Toyota Motor Mfg. Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534
U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73, questioned whether work is a
major life activity under the ADA, this court assumed that it
was. Serrano was not precluded entirely from working as a
dental assistant, but rather only from her position at
TCC--working with children with severe disabilities who had
to be mechanically restrained. See 29 C.F.R. § 1630.20)(3)(i).
See also Sutton v. UnitedAir Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471,491-92
(1999), 23 MPDLR 510.

The court rejected Serrano's argument that TCC's request
that she take medical leave and suggestion that she seek
disability and/or workers' compensation benefits established
that it regarded her as being substantially limited in the activity
of work. At most, this indicated that TCC regarded Serrano's
injury as preventing her from adequately performing one
job-a dental assistant at TCC--rather than a class of jobs or
a broad range of jobs in various classes. An employer is free
to decide that medical conditions that do not rise to the level
of an impairment under the ADA make individuals less than
ideally suited for ajob. See Sutton, 527 U.S. at 490-91. Moreover,
employees can be disabled under New York's workers'
compensation law, even if they are not disabled under the
ADA.

Serrano also was not qualified to perform her job with
reasonable accommodation. The court rejected Serrano's
argument that restraining patients was not an essential job
function, because only about 5 percent of patients needed to
be restrained. Evidence of whether a function is essential
includes not only the amount of time spent performing the
function, but also the consequences of not requiring the
employee to perform that function. See 29 C.F.R.
§ 1630.2(n)(3)(iii)-(iv). Moreover, the ADA explicitly mandates
deference to the employer's judgment as to what functions of
ajob are essential. See 42 U.S.C. § 12111(8). Serrano's request
that she be relieved from working with patients requiring
restraint was not reasonable. The ADA does not require
elimination of essential functions in order to accommodate an
employee's disability. See Wernick v. Federal Reserve Bank,
91 F.3d 379,384 (2d Cir. 1996), 20 MPDLR 685.

Title I; Actual; CTS

A New York federal court decided that a former employee
with carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) who could not type or
perform heavy lifting was not substantially limited in her ability
to perform tasks central to most people's daily lives and, thus,
was not disabled under the Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. West v. PortAuth. ofN. Y &
N.J., 2002 WL 31027016 (S.D.N.Y Aug. 30, 2002).

Frederica West, an office assistant for the Port Authority of
New York and New Jersey, had surgery for CTS in December
1997. She was restricted from typing and heavy lifting. West
did not return to work, and in May 1998, her manager informed
West that she would be replaced and that she should contact
the human resources department about alternative work. In a
letter dated May 21, West's doctor informed the Port Authority
that West would likely be unable to return to work for three
months. Human resources offered West positions as a
cafeteria worker and a night data control clerk, which she
turned down. In June, the Port Authority notified West that
she faced possible termination.

At a September 1998 hearing held pursuant to the collective
bargaining agreement and internal Port Authority procedures,
the hearing officer concluded that West was not capable of
performing her job in the immediate future and recommended
that she be granted unpaid leave for six months. At a second
hearing held in September 1999, West testified that she had no
idea when she would be able to return to full-time work. The
hearing officer concluded that West could not perform the
"critical, essential function operating a keyboard," and that
the Port Authority had made good faith efforts to find
alternative work placement for West. West was terminated in
November, and sued the Port Authority under Title 1, 42 U.S.C.
§§12111-12117.

The district court granted summary judgment for the Port
Authority, finding that West was not disabled under the ADA.
She failed to show that her CTS substantially limited her ability
to perform the variety of tasks central to most people's daily
lives. See Toyota Motor Mfg. Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 122 S. Ct.
681,692 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. West did not claim that she was
limited in any activity other than the tasks of typing and heavy
lifting.

§501; Actual; Perceived; Shoulder, Arm,
Hand Injuries; Retaliation

A New Hampshire federal court ruled that although a former
U.S. Postal Service (USPS) employee with limited use of his
left shoulder, arm, and hand failed to show that he was disabled
under the Rehabilitation Act §501, 29 U.S.C. §791 et seq., his
retaliation claim survived. Richard v. United States Postal
Serv., 219 F Supp. 2d 172 (D.N.H. 2002).

When the Manchester Post Office adopted an automated
system for sorting mail known as Delivery Point Sequencing
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(DPS), Roger Richard, a letter carrier, complained due to an
increased strain on his left shoulder, arm, and hand. He
submitted a doctor's note recommending that he be allowed
to manually sort his DPS mail as an accommodation for his
disability. Although Richard was initially allowed to do so, he
was subsequently ordered to stop. He then sued the USPS for
violating §50 1.

The district court granted the USPS summary judgment on
Richard's claim that he was discriminated against because of
his disability. Richard was not disabled under the Rehabilitation
Act. See Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 122 S. Ct.
681,690-91 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. Richard argued that he was
substantially limited in the major life activities of working and
performing manual tasks. As to working, however, the only
jobs that Richard claimed he was precluded from performing
were his prior job as an Army electrician and certain letter
carrier assignments. Thus, he failed to make the requisite
showing that he was unable to work in a broad range of jobs,
rather than a specificjob. Id. at 693. With respect to performing
manuals tasks, Richard's limitations were very similar to those
of the plaintiff in Toyota, which the Court found "did not
establish a manual-task disability as a matter of law." Richard
failed to distinguish his case from Toyota.

The court also rejected Richard's argument that the USPS
regarded him as substantially limited in working. Although
the USPS gave him "disabled veteran" preference and was
aware of his VA disability rating, it regarded his impairment as
only precluding him from performing "park and loop" routes
and recognized that he could perform other types of routes
and office work.

However, the court denied the USPS summary judgment on
Richard's retaliation claim. First, the USPS did not dispute that
Richard's internal discrimination complaints and lawsuit
constituted protected activities, see Sherman v. Runyon, 235
F.3d 406,409-10 (8th Cir. 2000). Second, Richard had clearly
suffered adverse employment actions. Management
transferred him to office work a few days after he filed his
second internal complaint and changed his route's start time
from 8 a.m. to 9 a.m. one week after he commenced this suit.
Moreover, he was subject to a hostile work environment,
consisting of numerous requests for medical documentation,
constant monitoring by management, an assault by his
supervisor, and unwarranted reprimands for behavior engaged
in by all employees. See White v. New Hampshire Dep 't of
Corr., 221 F.3d 254, 262 (1st Cir. 2000). Finally, there was
sufficient evidence of a causal connection between the
protected activities and the adverse employment actions.

There was also a close temporal proximity between Richard's
protected activities and the adverse actions, see Hodgens v.
GeneralDynamics Corp., 144 F.3d 151, 168 (lst Cir. 1998), 22
MPDLR 478. His reassignment to office work occurred only
days after he filed his second internal complaint. Similarly, the
change in his start time occurred exactly one week after he
initiated his lawsuit. Moreover, many of the incidents

underlying Richard's hostile work environment argument
occurred shortly after one of his complaints, or were
accompanied by a remark that suggested a retaliatory motive.
For example, the station manager told Richard that he had
heard about the lawsuit, and ordered him to undergo a "fitness
for duty" medical exam.

State Law; Actual; Retaliation; Back Injury

An Ohio appeals court decided that a former firefighter with
a back injury was not disabled for purposes of the state's
handicap discrimination law, Ohio Rev. Code ch. 4112, because
he failed to show that he was substantially limited in the major
life activity of working. Also, he failed to show that the city
had terminated him and issued a poster warning that he was
dangerous in retaliation for his filing a discrimination charge
with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC).
Pflanz v. City of Cincinnati, 2002 WL 31268406 (Ohio Ct.
App. Oct. 11, 2002).

Paul Pflanz, a firefighter for the City of Cincinnati, injured
his back on the job. In early 1994, the city doctor examined
Pflanz and determined that he was no longer qualified to
perform as a firefighter. In May, Pflanz was placed on light
duty. In August, he requested a reasonable accommodation.

On June 1, 1995, he was offered a technician position at
$10,000 less than his firefighter salary and given until June 11
to respond. That offer was extended until June 18 at Pfanz's
request. On June 19, Pflanz filed a discrimination charge with
the EEOC. Pflanz's deadline to respond to the job offer was
extended until July 17. When Pflanz failed to respond by that
date, he was terminated.

Pflanz wrote disparaging and threatening e-mails through
the firefighters' internet bulletin board. The Fire Division issued
a hazard poster, stating that Pflanz was trained as a bomb
technician and to exercise caution when dealing with
suspicious packages. On November 3, 1996, the EEOC
dismissed Pflanz's discrimination charge. He filed a second
retaliation charge. On September 29, the EEOC found probable
cause to believe that the issuance of the poster was retaliatory.
Pflanz sued the city under §4112.02(a) for discrimination, and
under §4112.02(1) for retaliation. The trial court granted the
city summary judgment.

The appeals court affirmed. Ohio's handicap discrimination
law was modeled after the Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADA), 29 U.S.C. 12101 et seq. See Columbus Civil Serv.
Comm 'n v. McGlone, 697 N.E.2d 204 (Ohio Sup. Ct. 1998), 22
MPDLR 636. Pflanz claimed that this back condition
substantially limited the major life activities of lifting, living
without pain, and working. Neither lifting nor living without
pain is mentioned as a major life activity under §4112.01(A)(1 3)
or in Ohio court decisions. Pflanz was not substantially limited
in the major life activity of working. The treating physician's
reported that Pflanz's back condition only limited the ability to
work in the fire-suppression industry, which is a narrow class
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of jobs. Thus, a reasonable factfinder could not have
concluded that Pflanz was substantially limited in the major
life activity of working. See Columbus, 697 N.E.2d 204 (ruling
that because plaintiff could work in job other than a firefighter,
he was not substantially impaired).

Pflanz also failed to prove aprimafacie case of retaliation
under §4112.02(l)-that he was engaged in a protected activity,
suffered an adverse employment act, and a causal link existed
between the protected act and the adverse action. See Wille v.
Hunkar Lab., Inc., 724 N.E.2d 492 (Ohio Ct. App. 1998). He
had not shown that the city had known about his EEOC claim
before terminating him, and had failed to present evidence
that his filing the EEOC charge was the likely reason for his
separation. The city's attempts to accommodate Pflanz,
including offering him a light-duty position, offering him the
technician position, and extending the time to decide on the
job offer, supported its argument that Pflanz had not been
discharged for filing the EEOC claim.

Finally, the city published the hazard poster not in retaliation,
but as a safety precaution. The court was not required to
determine whether the city's decision to publish the poster
was a good or bad decision, only whether it was motivated by
discriminatory intent. The city used its business judgment to
conclude that Pflanz posed a safety threat.

Title I; Actual; Record; Perceived; Back Injury;
FMLA; Eligibility; Requisite Hours

A Kansas federal court ruled that a former employee with
lifting restrictions was not disabled under the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 etseq., and was not
entitled to leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act
(FMLA), 29 U.S.C. §2601 et seq., because he did not work the
required hours of service. Wells v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 219
E Supp. 2d 1197 (D9. Kan. 2002).

In 1996, William Wells, a forklift driver for Wal-Mart Stores,
injured his back at work. Five months later, he returned to
work, but was restricted from lifting more than 75 pounds.
Wal-Mart placed Wells in its Temporary Alternative Duty
(TAD) program in October 1998. Under this program, after 60
days of light-duty work, employees are removed from work
until a physician releases them to full duty. In January 1999,
Wells' supervisor advised Wells that he would be placed on
workers' compensation leave and that he should report to
work on the day after he was released with no restrictions.
Wells had an appointment with Wal-Mart's workers'
compensation doctor on January 26. On February 1, Wal-Mart
learned that the doctor had released Wells to return to work
on January 26. Wal-Mart fired Wells for failing to report to
work on three consecutive days or call in. Wells sued Wal-
Mart under Title I, 42 U.S.C. §§12111-12117, and the FMLA.

The district court granted summary judgment for Wal-Mart.
Wells was not disabled under the ADA. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2);
29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(i). See also Poindexter v. Atchison, Topeka

& Santa Fe Ry., Co., 168 F.3d 1228 (1Oth Cir. 1999), 23 MPDLR
346. He failed to demonstrate that he was substantially impaired
in the major life activity of lifting. See Poindexter; Toyota
MotorMfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR
73. He did not establish that his lifting restriction was significant
when compared to the average person in the general
population. See Lusk v. Ryder Integrated Logistics, 238 F.3d
1237 (10th Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR 225 (a 40-pound lifting
restriction, by itself, did not substantially limit an employee's
major life activity).

Nor did he have a record of a substantially limiting
impairment from his 1996 back injury and two subsequent back
injuries. See 42 U.S.C. §12102(2)(C). Wells presented the
doctor's records regarding his lifting restriction, but as
previously discussed this restriction did not substantially limit
a major life activity.

Also, Wal-Mart did not regard Wells as disabled. See 42
U.S.C. § 12102(2)(B). Wells failed to present evidence that Wal-
Mart misperceived the extent of his limitations. Moreover, the
fact that Wal-Mart was aware of his injuries was insufficient
to demonstrate that Wal-Mart regarded Wells as disabled. See
Kidwell v. Board of County Comm 'rs of Shawnee County, 40
F. Supp. 2d 1201, 1221 (D. Kan. 1998), 23 MPDLR 219. Wal-
Mart's recognition of Wells' limitations was not an erroneous
perception, for Wells' gave the company a list of his medical
restrictions, which it honored.

Finally, Wells was not entitled to FMLA leave, because he
had only worked 993 hours, rather than the required 1,250
hours of service during the previous 12-month period. See 29
U.S.C. §2611(2)(A).

Title I; Actual; Record; Arthritis

A New York federal court found that a former employee with
arthritis in her left ankle was not disabled under the Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., because
she could perform activities that are of central importance to
daily life and did not have a record of an impairment that
substantially limits a major life activity. Covello v. Depository
Trust Co., 212 E Supp. 2d 109 (E.D.N. Y 2002).

In 1987, Jean Covello began working as an administrative
clerk for Depository Trust (DT). A physical exam, which was a
condition of her employment, revealed that she had fractured
her left ankle and had metal hardware inserted into her leg to
stabilize the ankle. In 1997, she was assigned to a Certificate
on Demand (COD) clerk job, which required her to retrieve
securities certificates using a platform staircase ladder. In the
summer, her doctor diagnosed degenerative arthritis and
advised her not to climb stairs or ladders. DT denied Covello's
request for a job transfer because there were no vacant
positions for which she qualified at the DT branch where she
wanted to work. Covello's performance deteriorated. Her
supervisor told Covello to go home until her doctor advised
her she could do the job, or another situation could be worked
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out. DT eventually terminated her. She sued DT under Title I,
42 U.S.C. §§12111-12117.

The district court granted summary judgment for DT,
holding that Covello was not disabled under the ADA. See 42
U.S.C. §12102(2). Covello's degenerative arthritis did not
substantially limit her ability to perform those activities that
are centrally important to daily life. See Toyota Motor Mfg.,
Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. She
can walk and stand, though not for prolonged periods. See
Bragdon v. Abbott, 524 U.S. 624 (1998), 22 MPDLR 449.
Moreover, her impairment prevents her from working as a COD
clerk and in otherjobs for which repetitive, fast ladder climbing
was an essential function, but not from a broad range ofjobs.
See Giordano v. City ofN.Y, 274 F.3d 740 (2d Cir. 2001). In
addition, Covello can care for herself and perform household
chores, including grocery shopping, taking out the garbage,
cleaning the house, and laundering her clothes.

The court also found that she did not have a record of a
substantially limiting impairment. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(B).
See also Colwell v. Suffolk County Police Dep 't, 158 F.3d 635
(2d Cir. 1998), 22 MPDLR 745. Covello's medical records merely
demonstrated that she broke her ankle in 1987, had one surgery
to insert hardware into her leg and a second surgery to remove
the hardware, and was medically restricted from climbing stairs
and ladders.

Title I; Actual; Record; Perceived; Back Injury

A U.S. Magistrate in Maine concluded that a former
employee with a back injury was not disabled under the
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et
seq., because he failed to show that he was substantially limited
in the major activity of working, was regarded as such, or had
a record of a substantially limiting impairment. Desgrosseilliers
v. Reid's Confectionary Co., 2002 WL 1874834 (D. Me. Aug.
14, 2002).

John Desgrosseilliers, a regional sales manager for Reid's
Confectionary Company (RCC), was diagnosed with back
strain and restricted from bending, twisting, and lifting more
than 20 pounds. After three weeks, his doctor eliminated
Desgrosseilliers' restrictions. RCC fired Desgrosseilliers due
allegedly to economic factors. He asked his supervisor if there
were other jobs he could perform for the company, but was
told him there were no full-time job vacancies. Desgrosseilliers
sued RCC under Title 1, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117.

The Magistrate recommended that summary judgment be
granted for RCC on the ground that Desgrosseilliers was not
disabled under the ADA. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2); see also
Santiago Clemente v. Executive Airlines, Inc., 213 F.3d 25 (1st
Cir. 2000), 24 MPDLR 780. Desgrosseilliers failed to show that
his back condition substantially limited his ability to work. He
asserted that his back pain and symptoms caused him to
consistently leave work early, and that his medical restrictions
significantly restricted his ability to work. However,

Desgrosseilliers was not significantly restricted in his ability
to perform either a class of jobs or a broad range of jobs. See
29 C.F.R. § I 630.20)(3)(i); see also Santiago Clemente; Lebron-
Torres v. WitehallLab., 251 F.3d 236 (1 st Cir. 2001), 25 MPDLR
796. Desgrosseilliers' doctor did not consider his impairment
permanent and released him from his care with no work
restrictions. See Carroll v. Xerox Corp., 294 F.3d 231 (1st Cir.
2002).

The court also found that Desgrosseilliers' did not have a
record of an impairment that substantially limited one or more
of his major life activities. See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2); 29 C.F.R.
§1630.2(k). See also Santiago Clemente. The three-week
period in which Desgrosseilliers saw his doctor was too short
to create a history of substantial limitation or a record of
impairment. See Jewell v. Reids Confectionery Co., 172 F. Supp.
2d 212 (D. Me. 2001). Further, Desgrosseilliers failed to provide
any evidence indicating that he had a history of, or was
misdiagnosed as having, a substantially limiting impairment.

The court also rejected Desgrosseilliers' argument that he
was regarded as having a substantially limiting impairment.
See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(C); see also Santiago Clemente. The
fact that RCC was aware that Desgrosseilliers was injured,
had symptoms, and had work restrictions did not lead to the
inference that RCC regarded him as unable to perform the
major life activity of working. See Heffernan v. Provident Life
& Accident Ins. Co., 45 F. Supp. 2d 1147 (D. Kan. 1999), 23
MPDLR 529. The fact that Desgrosseilliers had conversations
with his supervisor regarding his injury did not suggest that
RCC had a discriminatory animus when terminating him. There
was no evidence that RCC treated Desgrosseilliers as though
his condition was permanent or he was unable to perform the
duties of his job. Desgrosseilliers did not inform RCC that he
was unable to complete a full day of work due to pain. He
worked up to the day of his termination, and had not requested
reasonable accommodations from RCC.

Title I; State Law; Actual; Reasonable
Accommodation; Transfer; Back Condition

A New York federal court awarded $156,867 in back pay and
$50,000 in punitive damages to a former employee, finding
that (1) he was disabled under the Americans with Disabilities
Act (ADA) Title I, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111-12117, and the New York
Human Rights Law (NYHRL), N.Y. Exec. Law §290 et seq.; (2)
his employer failed to reasonably accommodate his disability
by transferring him to a vacant position whose essential
functions he could perform; and (3) the employer's policy
prohibiting employees from returning to work unless they
could do so without restrictions violated the ADA and the
NYHRL. EEOC v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc., 2002 WL
31011859 (S.D.N. Y Sept 9, 2002).

After Ronald Walden, a long-distance Road Driver for Yellow
Freight trucking company, injured his back on the job, his
physician recommended that he work in a light-duty position,
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because he could not sit for more than 45 minutes at a time
without pain. However, an orthopedic chiropractor hired by
Yellow Freight found that that Walden could return to his job
as a Road Driver. Yellow Freight then told Walden that it could
not allow him to continue his light-duty job, and that if he
wanted to return to his Road Driver job, he had to submit a
doctor's certification that he was fully released to perform his
former job without restrictions. His doctor refused, and Walden
cross-bid for a vacant Yard Jockey position, which did not
require sitting. Yellow Freight did not allow Walden to cross-
bid for the Yard Jockey job, based on a company policy that
required employees who wanted to return to their former
positions or to exercise their right to cross-bid to provide a full
release without restrictions to their formerjobs. The EEOC, on
Walden's behalf, sued Yellow Freight for disability
discrimination, under the ADA and the NYHRL.

The district court awarded $156,867 in back pay and $50,000
in punitive damages. Under the ADA, Walden was
substantially limited in the major life activity of sitting as
compared to the average person and, thus, was disabled within
the meaning of the statute. See Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v.
Williams, 122 S. Ct. 681, 691 (2002) 26 MPDLR 73. Courts have
generally found that the inability to sit for periods of an hour
or less may constitute a substantial limitation on the ability to
sit. See Konewko v. Village of Westchester, 2000 WL 1038125
(N.D. 111. July 25, 2000), 24 MPDLR 777; United States v. City
& County ofDenver, 49 F. Supp. 2d 1233,1245 (D. Colo. 1999),
23 MPDLR 552. Walden testified that his inability to sit affected
a variety of everyday activities. He had to watch television
lying down and recline his seat while driving to an almost
prone position. Moreover, he could not drive more than 30
minutes, or sit in a movie theater. Walden's treating physician
testified that Walden's back condition was permanent. The
court rejected Yellow Freight's argument that Walden had to
provide statistical evidence of the sitting ability of the average
person. "Common sense and life experience" were sufficient
to permit the court to determine that Walden was substantially
limited in the major activity of sitting as compared to the
average person. See Hayes v. United Parcel Serv., Inc., 2001
WL 1006162 (6th Cir. Aug. 20,2001).

Further, Walden had established that a reasonable
accommodation for his disability existed--the Yard Jockey
job. A reasonable accommodation includes reassignment to a
vacant position. See 42 U.S.C. § 12111 (9)(B). Pursuant to the
ADA, an employer may be required to transfer a disabled
individual who cannot perform his current job to a different
position whose essential functions he can perform. See Jackan
v. New York State Dep 't of Labor, 205 F.3d 562, 565 (2d Cir.
2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 931 (2000), 24 MPDLR459. It was
undisputed that had Walden been able to exercise his cross-
bid right, he would have had enough seniority to secure the
Yard Jockey job and was capable of performing it.

The court rejected Yellow Freight's argument that Walden
was incapable of attaining the Yard Jockey job due to its medical

release policy. Policies prohibiting injured employees from
returning to work unless they can do so "without restrictions"
violate the ADA. See McGregor v. National R.R. Passenger
Corp., 187 F.3d 1113, 1116 (9th Cir. 1999) 23 MPDLR 555;
Henderson v. Ardco, Inc., 247 F.3d 645,653 (6th Cir. 2001), 25
MPDLR 600. Thus, Yellow Freight's policy was not a valid
excuse for barring him from the job. See 42 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(2)
("discrimination" includes "participating in a contractual or
other arrangement or relationship that has the effect of
subjecting a... qualified applicant or employee with a disability
to" discrimination); see also 29 C.F.R. § 1630.6.

Moreover, the court rejected Yellow Freight's claim that its
proffered accommodation--allowing Walden to stop when
needed while driving long distances-was reasonable. Two
physicians testified at trial that they would not have authorized
Walden to work as a Road Driver under any condition.

With respect to the NYHRL claim, Walden had a covered
disability--a physical, mental, or medical impairment that
prevents the exercise of a normal bodily function or is
demonstrable by medically accepted clinical or laboratory
diagnostic techniques, provided that the disability does not
prevent the person from performing in a reasonable manner
the activities involved in the job or occupation sought or
held. See N.Y. Exec. Law §292(21) (emphasis added.) Here, it
was undisputed that Walden had could perform the duties of
the Yard Jockey position despite his disability. Further,
Walden's disability was the sole reason he was not allowed to
bid for the Yard Jockey job. Non-disabled employees returning
to work were treated differently from disabled individuals, in
that the former group was permitted to cross-bid.

§501; Actual; Arm Injury

The Ninth Circuit affirmed summary judgment for the U.S.
Postal Service, finding that a former clerk with a left arm injury
was not disabled under the Rehabilitation Act §501, 29 U.S.C.
§791 et seq., because she was not substantially limited in
performing activities that are centrally important to most
people's daily lives. See Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v.
Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. Plaintiff's
physician testified that she was not restricted from talking on
the phone, cooking, caring for her family, driving, and
participating in recreational activities. Although she was
unable to perform manual, repetitive tasks involving her left
arm for more than an hour at a time, doing so is not an important
aspect of most people's daily lives. In addition, plaintiff's
inability to lift heavy objects was not a substantial limitation
on the major life activity of lifting. See Thompson v. Holy
Family Hosp., 121 F.3d 537,539-40(9thCir. 1997),21 MPDLR
609 (25-pound lifting restriction is not substantially limiting).
Finally, she was not precluded from performing a class or broad
range ofjobs. See Broussard v. University of Cal. at Berkeley,
192 F.3d 1252, 1258 (9th Cir. 1999), 23 MPDLR 849. Aurigue v.
Potter, 2002 WL 1968371 (9th Cir. Aug. 26, 2002).
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Title I; Actual; Back, Leg, Neck Pain

The First Circuit affirmed summary judgment for the
employer, finding that a former employee with back, leg, and
neck pain was not substantially limited in the major life activity
of working and, thus, was not disabled under the Americans
with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. She provided no
evidence that she was unable to perform a broad range of
jobs, see Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471, 492
(1999), 23 MPDLR 510, nor did she adduce any evidence as to
the employment demographics in the relevant geographic area,
see Quint v. A.E. Staley Mfg. Co., 172 F.3d 1, 12 (1 st Cir. 1999),
23 MPDLR 385. Moreover, she went to work as a reporter
without providing any indication as to whether she requested
or was provided with a reasonable accommodation. Finally,
instead of documenting precisely how her impairment affected
her work, the treating physician simply parroted the definition
of the term "substantially limits." See Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky.,
Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. Gonzalez v.
El Dia, Inc., 304 E3d 63 (1st Cir. 2002).

Title I; Actual; Adverse Employment Action;
Back Injury

A Minnesota federal court granted summary judgment to
the employer, finding that a former employee with a back injury
was not disabled under the Americans with Disabilities Act,
42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., because he failed to show that he was
substantially limited from performing activities that are centrally
important to most people's daily lives. See Toyota Motor Mfg.,
Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002), 26 MPDLR 73. A
video surveillance tape revealed plaintiff's ability to bend and
lift without difficulty. Further, plaintiff failed to demonstrate
that he experienced an adverse employment action. He was
permitted to remain in his job, notwithstanding his medical
restrictions, until he left for an approved four-day medical
leave of absence. He never returned to work. Reed v. Home
Depot, U.S.A., 2002 WL 1906034 (D. Minn. Aug. 16,2002).

Title I; Actual; Perceived; Finger Injury

The Ninth Circuit affirmed summary judgment for the city-
employer, finding that a former police officer with an injured
left finger was not disabled under the Americans with
Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §12101 et seq. He was not
substantially limited in the major life activity of working,
because he was only precluded from performing law
enforcement jobs that required forcible arrests or combative
situations-not a broad class of jobs. See Sutton v. United
AirLines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471 (1999), 23 MPDLR 510. Norwas he
substantially limited in performing manual tasks, because he
only provided evidence that his ability was "diminished." See
Toyota Motor Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184 (2002),
26 MPDLR 73. Similarly, he only provided evidence that he

had "difficulty" grabbing, gripping, and holding objects.
Finally, the evidence indicated that the city accurately regarded
him as having an injured finger, and not a disability. Fultz v.
City of Salem, 2002 WL 31051577 (9th Cir. Sept 13, 2002).

Title I;, Actual; Perceived; Seizure; Vision

The Sixth Circuit affirmed summary judgment for the
employer, finding that a former employee was not disabled
under the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et
seq. He failed to show that his seizure disorder substantially
limited him in the major life activities of working, driving a car,
thinking, walking, and seeing. In addition, although he was
unable to perform his assigned job because of his seizure
disorder, he failed to provide evidence that he was significantly
restricted from performing a class or broad range ofjobs. See
29 C.F.R. § 1630.20). Similarly, plaintiff failed to show that his
visual impairment-20/300 vision in his left eye-prevented
him from performing normal daily activities or work. See Still v.
Freeport-McMoran, Inc., 120 F.3d 50 (5th Cir. 1997), 21 MPDLR
752. Finally, he failed to show that he was regarded as having
a substantially limiting impairment. The employer's mere
knowledge ofplaintiff's medical restrictions was not sufficient.
See Plant v. Morton Intl, Inc., 212 F.3d 929,938 (6th Cir. 2000),
24 MPDLR 612. Whitson v. Union Boiler Co., 2002 WL
31205208 (6th Cir. Oct 2, 2002).

Title I; Associational Discrimination; Qualified;
Pretext; Absenteeism

A Florida federal court found that an employer did not violate
the association provision of the Americans with Disabilities
Act (ADA) Title I, 42 U.S.C. § § 12111-12117, when it terminated
a non-disabled employee with a record of excessive absences
who was caring for her autistic daughter. In addition, the
employee failed to show she was terminated because of her
daughter's disability. Pittman v. Moseley, Warren, Prichard
& Parrish, 2002 WL 2007880 (M.D. Fla. July 29, 2002).

When Veleria Pittman was hired as a paralegal for Moseley,
Warren, Prichard, and Parrish in May 1999, she told them that
sometimes she would need to take time off to take her autistic
daughter to medical appointments. The law firm agreed to
cooperate with her. Pursuant to Moseley's leave policy, each
employee accrues 52 hours of paid sick leave a year. By August,
Pittman had exhausted her sick leave for the rest of 1999 and
was allowed to use sick leave from 2000. By February 2000,
Pittman had exhausted her sick leave for 2000. During 2000,
Pittman's daughter's condition deteriorated, so that Pittman
could no longer work on Fridays. In May, Pittman was required
to reduce her work schedule further. On June 8, in response to
Pittman's request for an indefinite leave of absence, she was
terminated. Pittman sued under Title I.

The district court granted Moseley summary judgment,
finding that Pittman was not a qualified individual under the
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ADA due to excessive absenteeism. See 42 U.S.C. § 12111. The
ADA prohibits employers from discriminating against a
qualified individual with a disability---one who, with or without
reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential
functions of the job he or she holds or desires. Id. at § 12112(a).
Discrimination includes denying equal jobs or benefits to a
qualified individual because of the known disability of an
individual with whom the qualified individual has a relationship
or association. Id. at § 12112(b)(4). It is clearly established that
an individual who is unable to meet the attendance requirements
of a job is not qualified for that job. See Hilburn v. Murata
Elecs.N. A., 181 F.3d 1220, 1231 (1 lthCir. 1999) 23 MPDLR688.
Moreover, a non-disabled employee is not entitled to a
reasonable accommodation----i.e., leave, modified work
schedule-because of his or her association with a disabled
person. See 29 C.F.R. Pt. 1630, App. See also Hartog v. Wasatch
Academy, 129 F.3d 1076,1084 (10th Cir. 1997), 22 MPDLR 65.
While an employer may not refuse to hire someone because it
believes that the applicant would have to miss work to care for
a disabled person, the employer's decision to terminate an
employee for excessive absenteeism because of caring for a
disabled person does not violate the "association" provision
of the ADA. See Hilburn, 181 F.3d at 1231; Tyndall v. National
Educ. Ctrs. Inc., 31 F.3d 209, 214 (4th Cir. 1994),18 MPDLR 525
(plaintiff was not qualified for her job because regular and
reliable attendance was a requirement of her job). Here, while
Moseley had allowed Pittman to be absent from the office at
times and work at home, it was not legally obligated to do so.
Similarly, the firm's willingness to accommodate Pittman in the
past did not create a duty to accommodate Pittman when she
asked for an indefinite leave of absence.

Also, Pittman failed to show that Moseley terminated her
because of her daughter's disability. Pittman was terminated
because of her record of extended absences and her statement
that she would need to take additional time off from work.
Similarly, she failed to show that the law firm's decision to
terminate her was based on the unfounded belief that she
would have to miss work to care for her daughter. The evidence
showed that Pittman had needed more time off than was
allowed by the law firm's leave policy, and that she had been
terminated because she requested an indefinite leave of
absence.

Employment: Medical Leave/Exams

Genetic Testing; Title I; CTS; Settlement

A Minnesota federal court approved a $2.2 million settlement
of an Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Title 1, 42 U.S.C.
§ § 12111-121117, claim brought by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (EEOC) whereby the Burlington
Northern and Santa Fe Railroad (BNSFR) agreed to stop the
genetic testing of employees who filed claims for work-related
injuries based on carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS). EEOC v.

Burlington N. & Santa Fe R.R., No. 02-C-0456 (E.D. Wis.
June 28, 2002).

The EEOC sued the BNSFR in Minnesota, alleging that it
had engaged in unlawful employment practices in violation of
Title I. BNSFR had requested that certain employees, who
claimed to have work-related CTS, submit to a medical
examination conducted by outside medical providers. One item
of that examination was a diagnostic blood test for a genetic
marker. The EEOC further alleged that BNSFR retaliated against
those employees who refused genetic testing. The EEOC had
successfully concluded a settlement in an identical case against
the railroad in Iowa. See EEOC v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe
R.R.,No. 01-4013 MWB (N.D. Iowa Apr. 23,2001), 25 MPDLR
551.

On May 6, 2002, the parties reached a mediated settlement.
Under its terms, BNSFR agreed it would not use genetic tests
in required medical examinations of its employees in the future,
would provide enhanced ADA training to its medical and claims
personnel, and would have senior management review all
significant medical policies and practices. BNSFR also agreed
to pay up to $2.2 million to the employees who were directed
to appear for the genetic testing, as part of a larger settlement
that included partial payments for claims filed under the Federal
Employers' Liability Act--an act that regulates a railroad
employer's liability to its employees for on-duty injuries. The
court approved the settlement on June 28, 2002.

State Law; Wrongful Discharge; Public Policy;
FMILA Violation

The Ohio supreme court held that the state does not
recognize a common law cause of action for wrongful discharge
in violation of public policy when the cause of action is based
solely on a discharge in violation of the Family and Medical
Leave Act (FMLA), 29 U.S.C. §2601 etseq. Wiles v. Medina
Auto Parts, 773 N.E.2d 526 (Ohio Sup. Ct. 2002).

Herb Wiles filed a wrongful discharge claim against his
former employer, Medina Auto Parts, alleging that it violated
public policy when he was constructively discharge in
retaliation for exercising his rights under the FMLA. Wiles,
who had taken two weeks of medical leave to care for his
father, claimed that upon his return, he was demoted; his wages
cut by nearly 50 percent; and he was transferred to a different
store. The Medina County Court of Common Pleas entered
summary judgment for Medina, and the appeals court affirmed.

The supreme court affirmed. In Greeley v. Miami Valley
Maint Contractors, Inc., 551 N.E.2d 981 (Ohio Sup. Ct. 1990),
the court first recognized a cause of action in tort for wrongful
discharge. Applying Greeley 's four-prong test, the court found
as to the first prong (the clarity element) that "the FMLA
expresses a clear public policy in favor of a qualified employee
being allowed to take medical leave to care for a parent with a
serious health problem." However, as to the second prong
(thejeopardy element), an employer's dismissal of an employee
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